
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
RHONDDA CYNON TAF

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

GWŶS I GYFARFOD O'R CYNGOR

C. Hanagan 
Cyfarwyddwr Materion Cyfathrebu a Phennaeth Dros Dro’r Gwasanaethau 
LlywodraetholLlywodraethol 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Y Pafiliynau 
Parc Hen Lofa'r Cambrian 
Cwm Clydach CF40 2XX

Dolen gyswllt: Claire Hendy - Democratic Services Officer  (01443 424081) 

DYMA WŶS I CHI i gyfarfod o PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - IECHYD A LLES yn cael 
ei gynnal yn Siambr y Cyngor, Y Pafiliynau, Parc Hen Lofa'r Cambrian, 
Cwm Clydach, Tonypandy CF40 2XX ar DYDD MAWRTH, 9FED HYDREF, 
2018 am 5.00 PM.

Caiff Aelodau nad ydyn nhw'n aelodau o'r pwyllgor  ac aelodau o'r cyhoedd gyfrannu 
yn y cyfarfod ar faterion y cyfarfod er bydd y cais yn ôl doethineb y 
Cadeirydd. Gofynnwn i chi roi gwybod i Wasanaethau Democrataidd erbyn Dydd 
Gwener, 5 Hydref 2018 trwy ddefnyddio'r manylion cyswllt uchod, gan gynnwys rhoi 
gwybod a fyddwch chi'n siarad Cymraeg neu Saesneg.

AGENDA
Tudalennau

1. DATGAN BUDDIANT 

Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau, yn unol â gofynion y Cod 
Ymddygiad.

Noder:

1. Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm mae eu buddiant yn 
ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol hwnnw; a

2. Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu buddiant sy'n 
rhagfarnu, mae rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r Cadeirydd pan fyddan nhw'n 
gadael.



ADRODDIAD CYFARWYDDWR CYFADRAN Y GWASANAETHAU 
CYMUNED A GWASANAETHAU I BLANT 

ADRODDIAD CYFARWYDDWR GWASANAETH – IECHYD A 
DIOGELWCH Y CYHOEDD, A'R GYMUNED 

2. ADOLYGU'R CYNLLUN TRWYDDEDU YCHWANEGOL AR GYFER 
TAI AMLFEDDIANNAETH 2014 A'R CYNNIG I DDATGAN CYNLLUN 
NEWYDD YN 2019. 
Trafod adroddiad Pennaeth Diogelu'r Cyhoedd mewn perthynas ag 
adolygu'r Cynllun Trwyddedu Ychwanegol ar gyfer Tai Amlfeddiannaeth 
2014 a'r cynnig i ddatgan cynllun newydd yn 2019. 

3 - 66
3. STRATEGAETH TAI GWAG – ADRODDIAD DRAFFT 

Trafod adroddiad Pennaeth Adfywio a Ffyniant a Rheolwr Strategaeth 
Tai a Buddsoddi Mewn Tai mewn perthynas â'r Strategaeth Tai Gwag – 
Adroddiad Drafft. 

67 - 100
4. MATERION BRYS 

Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn faterion brys yng 
ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig.

Cyfarwyddwr Materion Cyfathrebu a Phennaeth Dros Dro’r Gwasanaethau 
Llywodraethol

Cylchreliad:-

(Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol Y Cynghorydd R Yeo a Y Cynghorydd G Holmes – 
Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd, yn y drefn honno)

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol:
Y Cynghorydd A Roberts, Y Cynghorydd M Forey, Y Cynghorydd L De Vet, 
Y Cynghorydd L Jones, Councillor J Davies, Y Cynghorydd  J Williams, 
Y Cynghorydd A Chapman, Y Cynghorydd A Davies-Jones, Y Cynghorydd P Howe, 
Councillor K Jones, Y Cynghorydd G Stacey, Y Cynghorydd M Tegg and 
Y Cynghorydd G Hughes

Andy Wilkins (Legal), Pennaeth Materion Cyfreithiol – Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol a 
Llywodraethol
Gio Isingrini, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cymuned a Gwasanaethau i 
Blant
Neil Elliott, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Gwasanaethau i Oedolion

Y Cynghorydd Bwrdeistref Sirol G Hopkins, Aelod o’r Cabinet ar faterion 
Gwasanaethau Cymuned i Oedolion a Phlant



1 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018-19 

HEALTH & WELLBEING SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 9th OCTOBER 2018 

Agenda Item No.  2 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR, PUBLIC 
HEALTH , PROTECTION & COMMUNITY 
SERVICES  

REVIEW OF THE 2014 ADDITIONAL 
LICENSING SCHEME FOR HOUSES 

IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION AND 
THE PROPOSAL TO DECLARE A 

NEW SCHEME IN 2019 

Author(s): Louise Davies, Head of Public Protection 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To allow members to scrutinise the effectiveness of the 2014 Additional Licensing 
Scheme for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and, subject to those findings, to 
scrutinise the proposal to declare a New Additional Licensing Scheme for HMOs from 
April 2019, in accordance with the provisions of the Housing Act 2004.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Committee:

2.1  Scrutinise the findings of the Evaluation of the 2014 Additional HMO Licensing Scheme 
in Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

2.2 Subject to the review of the evaluation of the 2104 scheme, scrutinise the evidence for 
the proposal to declare a New Additional Licensing Scheme for HMOs in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, in accordance with the provisions of the Housing Act 2004.  

Tudalen 3

Agendwm 2



 2 

2.3 Subject to recommendation 2.2 above, make recommendations in respect of the 
licensing conditions to be placed on all HMO licenses granted by the Council under 
both the Mandatory Licensing Scheme, and the proposed new Additional Licensing 
Scheme from April 2019.  

 
2.4 Make recommendations to the Cabinet in respect of future additional licensing 

requirements for HMOs in Rhondda Cynon Taf from April 2019.  
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 
3.1 As of May 2018, there were an estimated 14,353 private rented properties across 

Rhondda Cynon Taf, accounting for approximately 13.35% of the housing stock. Of 
these 633 were licensed as houses in multiple occupation, which represents 4.4% of 
the private rented sector (PRS) and the majority of these properties are in the Treforest 
Ward.  
 

3.2 Historically, HMOs in RCT have been the domain of students, however the impact of 
welfare reform and changes to Housing Benefit has made the scale and nature of the 
PRS in RCT difficult to predict. Demand for student accommodation has declined in 
Treforest and landlords have diversified in order to ensure their properties are 
occupied. Trends have shown an increased reliance on the PRS as people’s housing 
choices are limited by availability of housing benefit and the demand for smaller 
accommodation including shared housing is increasing. 

 
3.3 For people who are priced out of owning their own home and who are unlikely to be 

able to access social housing, the PRS is often the only viable housing option 
available. HMOs in particular are now seen as a housing choice by young 
professionals, new to the employment market.  
 

3.4 HMOs have been subject to proactive regulation in RCT for the last 16 years. Between 
2002 and 2006 the Council operated a successful Borough wide Special Control 
Registration Scheme for HMOs. The Housing Act 2004 (‘the Act’) came into force in 
Wales in June 2006 and introduced powers for local authorities to regulate standards in 
the private rented housing sector.  In particular, the Act introduced the requirement for 
local authorities to licence certain types of HMO, namely those of 3 storeys or above 
with 5 or more tenants that comprise 2 or more households; this is termed Mandatory 
HMO Licensing. The Act also allowed local authorities to introduce other types of 
licensing scheme for different types of HMO (Additional Licensing) and also to licence 
the single occupation rented sector (Selective Licensing). Both of these schemes are 
discretionary. 

 
3.5 Since 2006, the Council has operated successive Additional Licensing Schemes, the 

most recent Scheme of which was introduced in 2014 and regulated all types of HMO 
including small 2 storey properties with three people living as two households and 
certain buildings converted to pre 1991 Building Regulations standards. Large HMOs 
i.e. those that are 3 storeys or above with 5 or more tenants, that comprise 2 or more 
households have continually been regulated through the Mandatory Licensing Scheme. 
The purpose of implementing the 2014 scheme in particular was both to protect the 
safety of tenants living in HMOs and also to minimise the impact of shared housing on 

Tudalen 4



 3 

the character and amenity of the surrounding area. Hence conditions are included to 
require that landlords maintain boundaries, gardens and walls and take reasonable 
 steps to reduce anti-social behaviour by persons living in HMOs. The standard 
conditions currently placed on HMO licences are attached as Appendix 1.  

 
 
3.6 Any Additional Licensing Scheme for HMOs declared by a Local Authority must only 

last for 5 years. Any decision on whether a further Additional Licensing scheme is 
required must be based on evidence of the need for such a scheme. In April 2007, the 
Welsh Assembly Government issued guidance to local authorities, indicating that they 
may implement Additional  Licensing Schemes without obtaining Approval, providing 
they can satisfy the requirements of the legislation with regard to evidence, 
 consultation with interested parties and implementation. In particular, the Council must 
be satisfied that a significant proportion of the HMOs  to be included in the Scheme 
are being managed ineffectively so as to give rise, or likely to give rise to problems 
either for those occupying  the HMO or for other residents.  

 
 
4. EVALUATION OF THE 2014 ADDITIONAL LICENSING SCHEME   
 
4.1  A full evaluation of the HMO Licensing Schemes (Additional and Mandatory), since 

2014, has been undertaken by the Housing Strategy Team and the full report is 
included as Appendix 2.  

 
4.2 The key findings of that evaluation are as follows:  

• There are currently 633 licensed HMOs in RCT, although the potential number 
is higher at approximately 688 due to vacancies and under-occupation. The 
transient nature of occupation of HMOs requires ongoing enforcement and 
investigation to maintain compliance with the Scheme.  

• 97% of properties subject to an application for a HMO licence were found to be 
non-compliant with the legal requirements. This is in spite of a significant 
number of the applications being in respect of properties previously subject to 
licensing.  

• Inspections undertaken after a licence has been granted show that only 40% 
maintained those legal standards, resulting in enforcement action to improve 
ongoing maintenance and condition of properties was necessary. Deficiencies 
were predominantly identified in relation to substandard fire precautions, poor 
external appearance, damp and disrepair.  

• 796 significant hazards have been removed from 346 licensed HMOs as a direct 
result of the licensing regime.  

• Anti social behaviour reports in the Treforest Ward have remained largely 
constant for the last 5 years although some changes in recording procedures by 
the Police may have impacted on the data and mean there has been a reduction 
in reality.  

• The Property Accreditation Scheme launched in  the Treforest Ward of RCT has 
had a positive impact on how tenants make informed choices about the property 
they want to live in. The Accreditation Scheme is however voluntary and is not a 
substitute for regulation of the HMO sector.   

 
 

Tudalen 5



 4 

 
5 CONSULTATION  
 
5.1  In accordance with the legal requirement, a public consultation was undertaken 

between 6th August 2018 and the 15th September 2018, a period of 6 weeks. The 
consultation was as follows:  
• On line via the Council website 
• Social Media using Facebook and Twitter  
• Door to door survey in Treforest  
• Targeted e-mailings to landlords, students, letting agents and other stakeholders 
• Targeted engagement with Local members, Treforest Residents Association and 

Treforest PACT 
 
5.2 The full Consultation feedback report is produced as Appendix 3. The key findings 

were as follows:  
• 146 responses were received to the consultation. The majority of theses 

identified Treforest as their place of residence.  
• 54% of respondents were owner occupiers, 14% were landlords and 26% were 

tenants.  
• 43% of respondents had concerns about HMOs in their area, with 49% saying 

anti social behaviour was the main cause for concern, followed by 25% saying it 
was disrepair.  

• 60% of respondents believed HMO licensing can improve the quality and 
appearance of HMOs. 

• 64% of respondents believed HMO licensing can improve the safety and 
security of HMOs. 

• 61% of respondents believed HMO licensing can be an effective way of 
preventing anti social behaviour, with a further 61% believing it can improve the 
management of HMOs.  

• 65% of respondents said they want to see the Additional Licensing Scheme 
continue. Only 11% of respondents said they did not want it to continue 

 
5.3 Many respondents provided comments to illustrate their opinion and these are 

reproduced in full from Page 20 of the Report in Appendix 2. Key comments by 
respondent type can be summarised as follows:   

• Landlords: HMO licensing is an unnecessary tax on their properties, concerns 
that the Scheme only captures “good landlords” and others go unregulated, 
comments that licensing is the wrong approach and unbalances the housing 
market thus driving property prices up.  

• Students & tenants: increase controls especially in relation to appearance of 
HMOs, desire for higher quality HMOs, focus on poor landlords.  

• Owner Occupiers: need to address refuse problems, need to do more to make 
landlords and tenants look after properties, absent landlords are a problem, 
pressure on parking in Treforest, unsavoury tenants and anti social behaviour is 
an issue, too many HMOs and not enough affordable housing, need to protect 
tenants from unscrupulous landlords.  

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 6



 5 

 
6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
6.1  The Housing Act 2004 allows local authorities to recover the cost of administering 

licensing scheme from application and other associated fees. The basis of the fees 
charged includes the administration of the application, inspection of the property and 
associated enforcement actions and wider enforcement and regulation during the 
period of the licence. If a new Scheme is approved, the fees to be associated with the 
Additional HMO Licensing Scheme will be fully reviewed prior to any formal declaration 
for the Scheme to ensure they are appropriate and proportionate. The implementation 
costs of any licensing scheme should be wholly recovered from fees.  

 
 
7 CONCLUSION 
 
 
7.1 HMOs are a necessary housing option and form an important part of the housing 

market of RCT.  The evaluation of the 2014 Additional Licensing Scheme shows the 
positive impact that the licensing regime has had on HMO standards, however there is 
clear evidence of the need for ongoing regulation of the sector to protect tenants from 
poor housing standards and to protect communities from the adverse impact of poorly 
managed HMOs. The feedback from the public consultation provides additional 
evidence of the impact of HMOs on our communities, in particular Treforest.  

 
7.2 Should the recommendation to declare a new Additional Licensing Scheme be 

supported, it can be concluded that the local authority has satisfied the requirements of 
the Housing Act 2004 (Section 56) as follows: 

 
- The exercise of the power is in accordance with the Council’s Housing Strategy. 

Rhondda Cynon Taf’s Single Integrated Plan ‘Delivering Change’ and the 
‘Place’ Priority of the Council which is to “create neighbourhoods where people 
are proud to work and live”.  

- Reasonable steps have been taken to consult persons likely to be affected by 
the designation through the a public consultation process 

- It is considered that making the designation will significantly assist the Council 
to deal with problems associated with HMOs in conjunction with other courses 
of action and will ensure that the risks associated with shared housing continue 
to be appropriately managed.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 7



Tudalen 8



Implementation date: July 2014 

 - 1 – 
 

 
HMO Licensing Conditions 

 
(Housing Act 2004 Section 67) 

 
These conditions are mandatory and will be imposed by Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council in all Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) that are 
subject to a licensing scheme within the scope of Part 2 of the Housing Act 
2004. The Council may apply others with discretion in appropriate 
circumstances and the list below should therefore not be regarded as 
exhaustive.  
 
1. The condition of the property and associated facilities.  
 
1.1 The licence holder must not permit the HMO to be occupied by more than 

the number of persons specified in the licence.  
 
1.2 The licence holder must ensure that the HMO has adequate means of 

escape and other fire precautions in case of fire in line with the Council’s 
adopted standards and the requirements of the Fire and Rescue Service, 
and or the requirements of the Approved Document B of the Building 
Regulations currently in force, as applicable. 

 
1.3 The licence holder must ensure that the HMO is maintained free from 

serious disrepair.  
 
1.4 The licence holder must ensure that the HMO complies with the Council’s 

adopted space standard.  
 
1.5 The licence holder must ensure that adequate space heating is provided 

and maintained in each unit of living accommodation.  
 
1.6 The licence holder must ensure that adequate amenities, facilities and 

equipment are provided and maintained in good order in the HMO for the 
use of the occupants at all times. This shall include satisfactory facilities 
for the storage, preparation and cooking of food including an adequate 
number of sinks with a suitable and sufficient supply of hot and cold 
water, in line with the Council’s adopted amenity standards. It shall also 
include the provision of an adequate number of suitably located water 
closets, an adequate number of suitably located fixed baths or showers 
and wash hand basins, each of which is provided with a suitable and 
sufficient supply of hot and cold water and properly connected to the 
drainage system. 
 

1.7 The licence holder must ensure that the internal common parts, staircases 
and other communal areas are maintained in good order and that they are 
so far as practicable in a clean and tidy condition. 

 

Tudalen 9



Implementation date: July 2014 

 - 2 – 
 

1.8 If gas is provided to the house, with reference to the gas appliance, 
boilers and flues (the ‘gas appliances etc.’): - 

I. The licence holder must ensure that at all times the gas 
appliances etc. provided as part of the tenancy are in a safe 
condition. 

II. A certificate from a CORGI registered engineer concerning the 
condition of the gas appliances etc. shall be provided to the 
Council with each application for a licence. A copy of this 
certificate must also be provided to each tenant upon the start of a 
tenancy agreement and annually thereafter.  

III. On each occasion that the gas appliances etc. are altered in any 
way, the licence holder must produce to the Council a further 
certificate from a CORGI registered engineer concerning the 
condition of the gas appliances etc.  

IV. The licence holder must produce to the Council annually for their 
inspection a gas safety certificate obtained in respect of the house 
within the last 12 months. 

 
1.9 The licence holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture made 

available by him in the house in a safe condition. In particular, the licence 
holder must ensure that all upholstered furniture and furnishing provided 
as part of the tenancy comply with the standards required in the Furniture 
and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 as amended and any 
other statutory instrument or other enactment which may, after the date of 
licensing, directly or indirectly replace them, with or without amendment. 
On demand, the licence holder must supply the council with a declaration 
by him as to the safety of these appliances and furniture.  

 
1.10 With reference to the electrical installations in the house: - 
 

I. The licence holder must ensure that all lighting to the common parts 
is sustained in good working order. 

II. The licence holder must ensure that at all times the electrical wiring to 
the lighting and power circuits, and the circuits to the fire alarm and 
emergency lighting systems and all electrical appliances (the ‘circuits 
and/or appliances’) provided as part of the tenancy arrangements are 
in a safe condition. 

III. Prior to licensing, the licence holder must produce to the Council, a 
certificate from a qualified electrician confirming the satisfactory 
condition of the circuits and/or installation.  

IV. On each occasion that the circuits and/or installation are altered in 
any way, the licence holder must produce to the Council, a further 
certificate from a qualified electrician confirming the satisfactory 
condition of the circuits and/or installation. 

V. For the purposes of this condition, a ‘qualified electrician’ means a 
member of the Electrical Contractors Association (ECA), the National 
Inspection Council for Electrical Installation and Contracting (NICEIC) 
or the Institute of Electrical Engineers (MIEE). 

 

Tudalen 10



Implementation date: July 2014 

 - 3 – 
 

1.11 With reference to the fire alarm and detection system in the house, the 
licence holder must: - 

 
I. In relation to houses of more than 2 storeys, produce to the Council 

every 5 years, a certificate from a qualified electrician concerning the 
condition of the electrical wiring and circuits to the system. 

II. On each occasion that the system and/or installation are altered in 
any way, the licence holder must produce to the Council, a further 
certificate from a qualified electrician concerning the condition of the 
circuits and/or installation. 

III. Carry out such other steps as necessary to ensure the fire alarm and 
detection system is maintained in good, operative order. This should 
include the testing of the alarm system by operating all alarm 
sounders in the dwelling at least once every month, annually testing 
each smoke detector for response to smoke, cleaning of the smoke 
detectors periodically in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instruction, or such other measures as may be deemed appropriate to 
the circumstances.  

IV. Keep a written record of testing and maintenance of the alarm 
system, for example in the form of a log book. This record must be 
made available for inspection upon demand.  

 
  
2. Community and Environmental Matters.  
 
2.1 The licence holder must ensure that all reasonably practicable means are 

used to ensure that the occupants of (and their visitors to) the property;  
 

a) refrain from engaging in conduct causing or likely to cause nuisance or 
annoyance to a person residing, visiting or otherwise engaged in lawful 
activity in the locality, particularly in the following ways:- 

 
• the playing of amplified (or other) music which is audible in 

the neighbouring properties or the streets; 
• behaviour constituting breach of the peace or contravening 

the Public Order Act 1986, the Criminal Justice Act 1994 or 
other relevant enactment; 

 
b) refrain from using the property or allowing it to be used for illegal 

purposes or for an arrestable offence committed in the property or the 
locality; 

 
and to this effect, the licence holder must take steps to ensure the 
occupants of the property are aware of the conditions imposed by the 
Council relating to their behaviour and this must be done at the 
commencement of any tenancy, as a minimum.   
 

2.2 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to co-operate with the 
Council over any action or investigation they may undertake in respect of 

Tudalen 11



Implementation date: July 2014 

 - 4 – 
 

anti-social behaviour arising in connection with the occupiers of (or visitors 
to) the licensed HMO.  

 
2.3 The licence holder must ensure that the external structures, gardens and 

yards of the house are maintained in satisfactory repair (including 
decorative repair), clean condition and good order so as not to be 
detrimental to the amenity of the locality or neighbourhood.  The terms 
‘structures’ includes windows, doors, roof, facia and soffit boards, 
rainwater goods and boundary walls, gates and fences. 

 
2.4 The licence holder must ensure that adequate and suitable refuse storage 

receptacles are provided for the exclusive use of the occupiers of the 
property.  

 
2.5 The licence holder shall ensure that the occupiers of the house have 

written notification of the relevant collection and disposal arrangements for 
refuse arising from the property. The written notification shall include a 
statement that it is an offence to place refuse for collection on the public 
highway, public footpath or other designated collection point earlier than 
12 hours before the scheduled time of collection. The licence holder must 
notify the occupiers of the HMO that they shall not permit litter or refuse to 
spread from the house onto the street or other land outside the curtilage of 
the house. 

 
2.6 The licence holder must ensure so far as practicable that the external 

areas within the curtilage of the property are kept clean, are free of 
accumulations of waste and are free from rodent infestations.  

 
3. Provision of satisfactory management arrangements 
 
3.1 The licence holder must ensure that the HMO is properly managed at all 

times. In particular he must ensure compliance with the Management of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (Wales) Regulations 2006 and ensure that 
the property is appropriately managed or supervised for the purpose of 
ascertaining whether there are contraventions of the management 
regulations.  

 
3.2 The licence holder must provide all tenants with a written statement of the 

terms on which they occupy the premises. 
 
3.3 The licence holder must ensure that any persons involved with the 

management of the HMO are to the best of their knowledge “fit and proper 
persons” for the purposes of the Housing Act 2004.  

 
3.4 The licence holder must ensure that there are adequate arrangements in 

place for dealing with emergency occurrences at or in connection with the 
property and must take suitable steps to ensure that all occupiers of the 
property are aware of the arrangements. 

 

Tudalen 12



Implementation date: July 2014 

 - 5 – 
 

3.5 The licence holder must display in a prominent position in the house the 
following information: - 

 
I. A copy of the licence currently in force in respect of the property.  
II. The name, address and contact number of the licence holder and 

manager if different, and nominated agent if applicable. 
III. Details of contact arrangements in case of an emergency in 

respect of the property. 
IV. A copy of a valid test certificate for the fire detection, warning and 

emergency lighting system. 
V. A copy of a valid test certificate for all gas appliances etc (if any). 

Tudalen 13



Tudalen 14



1 
 

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

  

Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Houses of Multiple Occupation 

  

Additional Licence Scheme 

  
         

 Review and Recommendations  

2018 

Tudalen 15



2 
 

Index               Page 

Purpose of Report          3

   

The Private Rented Sector in Rhondda Cynon Taf     4 

  

Mandatory and Additional Licensing       4 

  

Licence Conditions          6

   

Other HMO Regulations         7 

  

Impact of the HMO Additional Licence Scheme since 2014    8 

  

Anti-Social Behaviour         11 

  

Planning           12 

  

Treforest Property Accreditation Scheme      14 

  

Rent Smart Wales          14 

  

Domestic Private Rented Property Minimum Standard of Energy Efficiency  15 

  

Conclusion           15 

   

Recommendations          16 

  

Appendix 1  Mandatory and Additional Licence Applications by Area 18 

Appendix 2  Additional Licensed HMOs by number of bedrooms  20 

Appendix 3  Hazards Removed from Licensed HMOs    21 

Appendix 4  Existing HMO Licensing Conditions    23 

  

Reference and Further Information       27

     

Tudalen 16



3 
 

  

1. Purpose of Report 

  

1.1 On the 28th October, 2013 Cabinet considered the report “Licensing of 

Houses in Multiple Occupation in Rhondda Cynon Taf” together with the 

recommendations from the Environmental Services Scrutiny Committee from 

the 1st of July 2013. 

  

1.2 Following this, a new Additional Licensing Scheme (ALS) was agreed which 

came into effect on 1 April 2014. The ALS extended the scope of HMO 

licensing to cover rented property with 3 or more occupiers who form 2 or 

more households regardless of how many storeys the property has. It also 

included converted buildings. 

  

1.3 The Scheme was approved to run for a period of 5 years, and is due to expire 

on 31st March 2019.  The Council are obliged to undertake a review of the 

Scheme to evaluate its impact and recommend whether an Additional 

Licensing scheme is still required; and if so, whether any changes are 

required in line with good practice, legislation and the findings of the 

evaluation 

  

1.4 The purpose of this report is: 

To evaluate the existing scheme to determine the extent to which it has 

achieved the outcomes and impact intended when the scheme was introduced 

in 2014. 

 To evaluate the possible effect on the housing market and housing standards 

in shared housing in RCT if the scheme is not continued after 2019 

 To make recommendations on any changes or improvements that could be 

made to the existing scheme if it were to be continued. 

Tudalen 17



4 
 

  

 

2. The Private Rented Sector in Rhondda Cynon Taf 

2.1 As of May 2018 there were an estimated 14,353 private rented properties in 

Rhondda Cynon Taf which represented approximately 13.35% of the 

housing stock, of these 3.86% are houses in multiple occupation. The 

private rented sector is increasingly relied upon to provide a wide range of 

housing options within the borough not readily available through the owner 

occupied and social housing sectors 

2.2 Historically HMOs in RCT have been the domain of students and this 

associated demand has seen the highest concentrations developed in areas 

adjacent to the University of South Wales, predominantly the Treforest ward. 

2.3 Since 2009 and the phased implementation of welfare benefit reforms, 

there has been a growing demand for affordable accommodation options 

for single person households restricted to the cost of a room in a shared 

house. Conversely, reductions in student numbers has been instrumental in 

a significant change in the use of HMOs in the Treforest ward and HMO 

landlords have had to adapt to this change in the market to negate the 

inability to let their properties and are therefore turning to the non-student 

single person demand accordingly. 

 

3. Mandatory and Additional Licensing  

  

3.1 Under the UK wide Mandatory Licensing Scheme (Housing Act 2004), 

HMOs that are 3 storeys or more and occupied by 5 or more persons living 

in 2 or more households are required to be licensed. The UK Mandatory 

Licensing Scheme came into force on 1st June 2006.  

  

3.2 The Housing Act 2004 also gave local housing authorities discretion to 

specify that landlords of some other or all Houses in Multiple Occupation 

Tudalen 18



5 
 

(HMOs) must apply for a licence if they want to let to tenants. This is called 

Additional Licensing.  

  

3.3 HMOs have been subject to proactive regulation in Rhondda Cynon Taf 

for the last 16 years. Between 2002 and 2006 the Council operated a 

Borough-wide Special Control Registration Scheme for HMOs that were 2 

storey or above with 4 or more tenants, comprising of three or more 

households. Since 2006, there has been some form of Additional 

Licensing scheme in operation in RCT in addition to the Mandatory 

Licensing Scheme. 

 

 

3.4 Types of HMO that are included in the current Additional Licence Scheme 

2014 

The RCTCBC Additional Licensing scheme covers the following HMOs: 

 Entire houses or flats which are let to 3 or more tenants who form 2 or 

more households and who share a kitchen, bathroom or toilet.  

 Houses which have been converted entirely into bedsits or other non-self-

contained accommodation and which is let to 3 or more tenants who form 

two or more households and who share kitchen, bathroom or toilet 

facilities.  

 Converted houses which contain one or more flats which are not wholly 

self-contained (i.e. the flat does not contain within it a kitchen, bathroom 

and toilet) and which is occupied by 3 or more tenants who form two or 

more households.  

 Buildings which are converted entirely into self-contained flats if the 

conversion did not meet the standards of the 1991 Building Regulations 

and more than one-third of the flats are let on short-term tenancies. 

In order to be a HMO the property must be used as the tenants’ only or 

main residence and it should be used solely or mainly to house tenants.  

Tudalen 19



6 
 

Large HMOs i.e. those of 3 storeys or above with 5 or more tenants that 

comprise 2 or more households continue to be regulated through the 

Mandatory Licensing Scheme. 

  

3.5 The RCT Additional licensing scheme serves a dual purpose, both to 

protect the safety of tenants living in HMOs and also to minimise the 

impact of shared housing on the character and amenity of the surrounding 

area. Changes in the market, as currently in operation in Treforest, present 

a prime example of how the RCT HMO licensing Scheme can be utilised in 

tandem with other council initiatives to govern, monitor and ensure the 

quality and standard of both the property and its management. The ALS 

also serves to mitigate the negative impacts associated with high densities 

of HMOs and effectively manages the changes in the dynamics of the 

housing market, that, if left un-checked, could have an adverse impact on 

the desirability of an area, a rise in anti-social behaviour and a breakdown 

of social cohesion.  

 

3.6 Whilst there are currently 633 licensed HMOs in RCT (Mandatory and 

Additional), the potential number of HMOs is higher than this at 688. This is 

because at any one time there are always some properties that the Council 

has under review either because it suspects they are being used as HMOs 

but are not licensed, or because they have previously been used as HMOs 

and whilst not currently, could potentially be again in the future. These 

properties are described as ‘potentially’ licensable and are the focus of the 

Council’s enforcement and investigation on an ongoing basis. Once it is 

established that properties are licensable, then appropriate steps are taken 

to bring the properties into the licensing regime which can then involve 

enforcement action. 

  

3.7 The number of HMOs currently licensed under both the Mandatory and 

Additional Licensing Schemes in RCT is detailed in Appendix 1. 

Tudalen 20



7 
 

  

4.0 Licence Conditions 

 4.1 Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation is dealt with under Part 2 of the 

Housing Act 2004.  The Act also allows local Licensing Authorities to include 

discretionary conditions which it considers appropriate for regulating the 

management, use and occupation of the HMO its condition and contents.  

 

 4.2 The main purpose of licensing conditions is to protect the safety and well-

being of tenants living in HMOs in relation to hazards such as fire safety or 

overcrowding and ensure the properties are effectively managed by persons 

assessed as being fit and proper.  

  

4.3 Further licensing conditions applicable in Rhondda Cynon Taf also aim to 

minimise the impact of shared housing on the character and amenity of the 

surrounding area by imposing social and environmental conditions that cover 

the external appearance together with the maintenance of properties, gardens 

and the prevention of anti-social behaviour by tenants.  The licence conditions 

have allowed the Council to intervene early and work more intensively with 

landlords to help and support them to meet their responsibilities.  

 

4.4 For the minority of landlords who wilfully fail to meet the conditions, the 

Council can use its enforcement powers, including prosecution through the 

courts, to remedy breaches and address the negative impact caused to both 

tenants and the community. 

 

5.0 Other HMO Regulations  

5.1 In addition to the requirements of Part 2 of the Act there are three sets of 

management regulations which govern the management of HMOs. The 

Tudalen 21



8 
 

Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional 

Provision) (Wales) Regulations 2007 regulates self-contained flats (Section 

257 HMOs) and The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Wales) 

Regulations 2006 regulates all other types of HMO (Section 254 HMOs). Both 

sets of regulations contain broadly similar requirements in respect of keeping 

the accommodation clean safe and in a good state of repair. 

 5.2 In addition Schedule 3 of The Licensing and Management of Houses in 

Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) Wales 

Regulations 2006 prescribe standards for deciding the suitability for 

occupation of an HMO by a particular maximum number of household or 

persons. 

 

  5.3 Housing Health & Safety Rating System 

In addition to the requirements of the Management Regulations, HMOs must 

also comply with the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). 

HHSRS applies to all housing including HMOs regardless of type or tenure. It 

involves a risk assessment of the effect of housing conditions on the health of 

occupiers and an assessment of 29 potential hazards. If Category 1 hazards 

(i.e. the more serious hazards) are found the Council has a duty to require the 

owner to take appropriate action. If Category 2 hazards (i.e. less serious 

hazards) are found the Council may take appropriate action as provided for 

within its enforcement policies. Councils are required to assess licensable 

HMOs to ensure that there are no functions under Part 1 of the Act (HHSRS) 

that ought to be exercised by them. This has to be done within five years of a 

licence being issued and in practice requires an inspection to be carried out. 

  

6.0 Impact of the HMO Additional Licence Scheme since 2014 

6.1 Between April 2014 and April 2018 544 licenses have been issued under the 

Additional Licensing Scheme with an additional 21 properties pending 

Tudalen 22



9 
 

approval. The table in Appendix 2 shows the type and size of HMOs in RCT 

that have received a licence under the Additional Licensing Scheme.  

 

6.2 Standard of properties at point of application 

 At the point of application 527 (97%) of properties where non-compliant with 

the conditions of the HMO Additional Licence Scheme and required works to 

achieve a status of compliance. 

  

6.3 Of the total number of applications received under the current Additional 

Licensing Scheme, 297 were renewal applications, meaning that they had 

been licensed under the 2009 Additional Licensing Scheme. Of these 79% 

were non-compliant. The Council has received 7 licensing applications for 

converted buildings (Section 257 HMOs). These were brought into licensing 

for the first time in 2014. 100% of these HMOs were non –compliant at the 

point of application. 

  

6.4 Outcome of inspections and enforcement of the Additional Licensing 

Scheme 

HMOs are inspected by Environmental Health Officers before licenses are 

issued to ensure that they meet licensing standards and conditions; during the 

licence period and on renewal. If a property is not at the required standard, 

landlords are advised of the work required and given a timescale for the work 

to be completed. 

   

6.5 The percentages of properties that meet licensing standards at the point of 

application are quite low and the data also indicates that there is a decline in 

standards in terms of property conditions and management arrangement for 

new applications being presented to the Council for licensing.   

 6.6 Over the last two years Environmental Health Officers have been undertaking 

Tudalen 23



10 
 

proactive inspections of licensed HMOs, usually at around year 2 after 

licensing. This provides assurance to residents and tenants that HMO 

standards are maintained for the life of the 5-year license and enables the 

Council to intervene earlier when issues are identified, rather than waiting for 

a complaint from tenants or other residents. Annual programmed inspections 

carried out in academic year 2016/2018 identified that only 255 of all licensed 

HMOs were found to still be fully compliant. 

 

 6.7 Some licenses that were issued under the 2009 Additional Licensing Scheme 

and had not yet expired, were ‘passported’ onto the 2014 Additional licensing 

Scheme. Subsequently they were required to be relicensed between 2014 and 

2018. The percentage compliance at initial visit for HMO renewal applications 

is also low, as shown by the data below: 

  

2014/2015     11% 

2015/2016     13% 

2016/2017       3% 

2017/2018      26% 

  

6.8 Since the commencement of the new scheme 60 licenses have received 

reduced license terms (less that maximum 5-year license term) in response to 

failures by the license holders in carrying out works in a reasonable time 

period to meet licensing conditions. 

 

6.9 Proactive occupancy checks which have also been carried out from 2016 to 

date have led to a 23 HMOs applications (previously unlicensed) being 

received and brought into the licensing regime 

 

6.10 The Housing Standards Team is currently looking to instigate legal 

Tudalen 24



11 
 

proceedings against two landlords for failure to license a licensable HMO in 

accordance with the Council’s Additional Licensing Scheme. 

 

6.11 Non-compliance issues related predominantly to deterioration in property 

appearance and environmental conditions; deficiencies in fire safety 

provisions, damp and mould and disrepair of property internals due to general 

wear and tear.  

  

6.12 All hazards or non-compliance issues identified through the proactive 

inspections have been reduced to an acceptable standard as a consequence 

of Council intervention to ensure these properties were again compliant with 

licensing conditions. Hazards identified and removed from HMOs are detailed 

in Appendix 3. A total of 796 Category 1 and 2 Hazards were removed from 

within 346 Licensed HMOs since the introduction of the Additional License 

scheme. 

  

6.13 This demonstrates that without continued regulation of smaller HMOs and 

converted buildings, there is a high risk that they would either be let in a low 

standard or would quickly deteriorate in standard and present hazards for 

occupants over time once the requirement for licensing ceased.  

  

7.0 Anti-Social Behaviour 

 7.1 Anti-social behaviour is a broad term used to describe the day to day incidents 

of crime, nuisance and disorder that can have a dramatic negative impact on 

the lives of people in the community. It covers such things as litter and 

vandalism, public drunkenness or aggressive dogs, to noisy and abusive 

neighbours. Such a wide range of behaviour means that responsibility for 

dealing with anti-social behaviour is shared between a number of agencies, 

particularly the Police, local authorities and social landlords. 

Tudalen 25



12 
 

 7.2 Areas in which high densities of HMOs are located can be susceptible to 

increases in crime and anti-social behaviour and act as a barrier to social 

cohesion within the community. 

  

7.3 The Treforest Ward of RCT has the highest number of both Mandatory and 

Additional licensed HMOs in RCT. The following table presents the reported 

annual incidents of anti-social behaviour in the Treforest ward. At first glance 

there appears to have been little change in the incidence of anti-social 

behaviour since the introduction of the ALS. However, the methods of 

reporting have changed during this period and the range of anti-social 

behaviour has been extended in regards to what is reported under the 

category of ASB. Effectively the incidence of anti-social behaviour has actually 

been reduced overall in comparison to the smaller range of ASB that was 

originally reported prior to the introduction of the ALS.  

 

Treforest Ward Period Number of Reported ASB Incidents 

April 1st 2013 to March 31st  2014 650 

April 1st 2014 to March 31st  2015 775 

April 1st 2015 to March 31st  2016 565 

April 1st 2016 to March 31st  2017 695 

April 1st 2017 to March 31st  2018 680 

 

8.0 Planning 

8.1 Prior to 2016, the use of a building as a dwelling house was defined by Class 

C3 of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987, as follows:  

Use as a dwelling House (Whether or not as a sole of main residence) – 

  

Tudalen 26



13 
 

By a single person or be people living together as a family, or 

  By not more than 6 residents living together as a single household (including a 

household where care is provided for residents). 

 

8.2 The effect of this was that planning permission was not required to use a 

family house as a HMO as long as there were no more than 6 residents. 

Therefore, in the example of Treforest since most houses are terraced houses 

of modest size, historically few needed planning permissions for use as a 

multiple occupancy dwelling. 

 

8.3 New legislation was introduced in Wales in February 2016 which included the 

division of class C3 into new use classes C3 and C4: 

 

Class C3 Dwelling Houses 

Use as a dwelling house (whether or not as a sole or main residence) by – 

A single person or by people to be regarded as forming a single household: 

Not more than 6 residents living together as a single household where care is 

provided for residents; or 

Not more than 6 residents living together as a single household where no care 

is provided to residents (other than to a Use within class C4). 

  

Class C4. Houses in Multiple Occupation 

Use of a dwelling house by not more than 6 residents as a house in multiple 

occupation 

  

8.4 The change means that planning permission is now required to change from a 

house in single occupation to a HMO for up to 6 residents. These are now 

referred to as either ‘small HMO’ or ‘Class C4 HMO’. Planning permission is 

needed now, as before February 2016, to change from a house in single 

occupation to a HMO for more than 6 residents. These are now referred to as 

Tudalen 27



14 
 

either ‘large HMO’ or ‘sui generis HMO’ (sui generis use: a use of its own kind, 

i.e. not in a use class).  

  

8.5 Since the licensing and planning systems operate on different criteria under 

separate legislation, it is possible to gain a licence and not planning 

permission for the same property, or planning permission and not a licence. 

The granting of one is no indication that the other will be granted. However, 

since March 2016, 146 planning permission checks have been carried out by 

Environmental Health Officers. Properties which are suspected to require 

planning permission in accordance with a change of Class use from C3 to C4 

have been referred to the Planning Authority for their investigation.  

 

9.0 Treforest Property Accreditation Scheme  

9.1 The Treforest Property Accreditation Scheme (TPAS) was implemented 

November 2016 with the objective of raising the quality, amenity and 

management of the general private rented housing stock in the Treforest area 

of Rhondda Cynon Taf. The scheme serves to raise the profile of good 

landlords and recognises high standard of management where provided.  

9.2 The TPAS is a voluntary scheme that is open to landlords and letting agents 

of all types of private rented property, including HMOs. There is no charge for 

joining the scheme. Properties are assessed in accordance with agreed 

standards and the information is available to prospective tenants seeking 

rented accommodation in the Treforest area. There are 4 levels of 

accreditation to reflect the quality of the property and its compliance with 

legislative requirements, together with the quality of housing management and 

the administrative processes utilised. 

 9.3 The Scheme includes all types of rented properties and not just HMOs, 

however it is complementary to the ALS as it encourages landlords to raise 

their standards above the licensing standard on a voluntary basis. 

  

Tudalen 28



15 
 

10.0 Rent Smart Wales  

  

10.1 The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 became effective on 23rd November 2015 and 

is ensuring that a comprehensive register is established of the private rented 

sector in Wales. In addition, those persons who are directly involved in letting 

and managing rental properties are required to become suitably trained and 

be ‘fit and proper’ to deliver those activities. A licence may be revoked if a 

landlord fails to comply with the Code of Conduct and they may no longer be 

able to directly manage rented accommodation as a result.  

 

 11.0 The Domestic Private Rented Property Minimum Standard of 

Energy Efficiency 

  

11.1 Guidance for landlords and local authorities on the minimum level of energy 

efficiency required to let domestic property under the Energy Efficiency 

(Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015. 

From the 1st April 2018, landlords of relevant domestic private rented 

properties may not grant a tenancy to new or existing tenants if their property 

has an EPC rating of band F or G (as shown on a valid Energy Performance 

Certificate for the property).  

  

11.2 From the 1st April 2020, landlords must not continue letting a relevant 

domestic property which is already let if that property has an EPC rating of 

band F or G (as shown on a valid Energy Performance Certificate for the 

property). Currently there is no requirement within the Additional Licensing 

Scheme for landlords to commission an EPC for a HMO  

  

12.0 Conclusion 

 12.1 Since the introduction of the Additional Licensing scheme on the 1st of April 

2014, 544 HMO properties have been brought under the umbrella of 

Tudalen 29



16 
 

regulation in addition to the 89 HMOs that were subject to Mandatory 

Licensing requirements. The Additional Licensing Scheme has enabled the 

removal of 796 Category 1 and 2 hazards from 346 properties designated as 

HMOs. Landlords have been supported to raise the standards of management 

within the sector and robust monitoring and enforcement has served to identify 

and prosecute wilfully non-compliant landlords. 

  

13.0 Recommendations 

13.1 Changes in the rental market and the supply and demand factors associated 

with the introduction of welfare benefit reform will see an increasing demand 

for affordable single person housing options. Conversely a reduction in the 

numbers of students and an associated fall in demand for student 

accommodation is impacting on the Treforest Housing market which 

represents the highest number of licensed HMOs in the borough. These 

changes will bring new challenges in addressing issues of quality and the 

detrimental effects associated with HMOs.  

13.2 HMOs provide an invaluable source of affordable accommodation in a time if 

high demand and cater to a diverse range of tenants. Well managed and 

maintained HMOs provide a valuable asset as an essential part of RCT the 

housing stock. However, without the means to monitor, govern and enforce 

acceptable standards there is a risk that the sector will deteriorate and in-turn 

present a blight on the community in which they are located and a risk to the 

safety and well-being of the residents who depend on them most. 

13.3 Whilst this report has identified other methods of helping to raise standards 

such as the TPAS and Rent Smart Wales, these are either voluntary and not 

borough wide or do not deal directly with the standard and safety of the actual 

property. TPAS is a voluntary scheme and also the costs of administrating it 

are not covered as it is free to landlords. As such, beyond 2019 when current 

funding for the TPAS ends, it is not clear if this scheme can continue. 

Although the Rent Smart Wales registration and licensing process is able to 

provide tangible benefits to tenants and landlords in regards to the status of 

Tudalen 30



17 
 

“Fit and Proper” landlords, the quality and amenity of the property they 

manage is not a consideration in the landlord registration and licensing 

process, and does not therefore control the risk of poor quality 

accommodation being let and the associated risk to both tenants and the 

community.  

13.4 It is therefore recommended that the Council continues to operate an 

Additional Landlord Scheme and that the new Scheme should continue to 

license all types of HMO throughout the County Borough. 

13.5 There is also the opportunity to improve the quality and amenity of HMOs 

through energy efficiency measures which contributes both to the well-being 

of tenants and the environment. Whilst there is now a legal requirement for all 

rental properties to achieve an energy performance higher than an F or G 

rating, the introduction of a specific licensing condition stipulating that HMOs 

have to commission an EPC under the ALS will serve to raise the energy 

efficiency of the HMO stock. It is therefore recommended that this condition is 

introduced. 

13.6 Finally, it is recommended that the administration of the Scheme is reviewed. 

This includes a review of the fee structure to ensure that it is fit for purpose 

and also that it continues to cover the costs of administering the Scheme. It is 

also recommended that the application process is reviewed with the 

opportunity to move from a paper based system to an on line application 

process. The aim of this is to speed up the process and encourage a more 

business focused approach. 

  

 

  

  

Tudalen 31



18 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Address 
Mandatory Licence 

Application 

Additional Licence 

Applications 

Total Number of 

Applications 

Aberaman   1 1 

Abercwmboi   1 1 

Aberdare 1   1 

Blaenllechau   1 1 

Cwmparc 1   1 

Gadlys   1 1 

Glyntaff   7 7 

Godreaman   1 1 

Graig 4 4 8 

Hopkinstown   1 1 

Llanharan   2 2 

Llantwit Fardre   1 1 

Pentre 1   1 

Pontyclun   2 2 

Pontygwaith   1 1 

Pontypridd 5 4 9 

Rhydyfelin   2 2 

Taffs Well   2 2 

Talbot Green   1 1 

Tudalen 32



19 
 

Tonyrefail   1 1 

Trecynon   1 1 

Treforest 76 505 581 

Tylorstown   2 2 

Upper Boat   1 1 

Wattstown 1   1 

Ynyshir   1 1 

Ynysybwl   1 1 

Total 89 544 633 

New Applications 39 283 322 

Licence Renewal 50 260 310 

Licence Variation   1 1 

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

Tudalen 33



20 
 

 Appendix 2 

 

Additional Licensed HMOs by Number of Bedrooms 

Number of Bedrooms Number of Properties 

1 Bedroom 2 

2 Bedroom 8 

3 Bedroom 79 

4 Bedroom 248 

5 Bedroom 160 

6 Bedroom 35 

7 Bedroom 3 

8 Bedroom 3 

9 Bedroom 1 

10 Bedroom 2 

12 Bedroom 1 

14 Bedroom 2 

Total 544 

 

Tudalen 34



21 
 

Appendix 3 

 

Hazards removed from Licensed HMOs 

Damp and Mould Cat 1 17 

Excess Cold Cat 1 15 

Un-combusted Fuel Gas Cat 1 3 

Entry By Intruder Cat 1 9 

Domestic Hygiene  Pests and Refuse Cat 1 1 

Food Safety Cat 1 6 

Personal Hygiene/Sanitation/Drainage Cat 1 9 

Falls associated with baths Cat 1 7 

Falling/level surface Cat 1 10 

Falling on Stairs Cat 1 25 

Falling Between Levels Cat 1 27 

Electrical Hazards Cat 1 8 

Fire Cat 1 47 

Risk of Explosion Cat 1 1 

Total Number of Category 1 Hazards removed 185 

Damp and Mould Cat 2 117 

Excess Cold Cat 2 18 

Excess Heat Cat 2 1 

Un-combusted Fuel Gas Cat 2 3 

Tudalen 35



22 
 

Entry by Intruders Cat 2 19 

Lighting Cat 2 4 

Domestic Hygiene / Pest & Refuse Cat 2 13 

Food Safety Cat 2 10 

Personal Hygiene / Sanitation/Drainage Cat 2 33 

Falls Associated to Baths Cat 2 6 

Falling /Level Surface Cat 2 28 

Falling on Stairs Cat 2 36 

Falling between levels Cat 2 46 

Electrical Hazard Cat 2 28 

Fire Cat 2 221 

Flames Hot Surfaces Cat 2 1 

Collision / Entrapment Cat 2 2 

Position and operability of Amenities Cat 2 1 

Structural Collapse and Falling Elements Cat 2 24 

Total Number of Hazards Removed 611 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 36



23 
 

 

Appendix 4  

Existing HMO Licensing Conditions 

I.  The licence holder must ensure that at all times the gas appliances etc. 

provided as part of the tenancy are in a safe condition. 

II.  A certificate from a GAS-SAFE registered engineer concerning the condition of 

the gas appliances etc. shall be provided to the Council with each application 

for a licence. A copy of this certificate must also be provided to each tenant 

upon the start of a tenancy agreement and annually thereafter.  

III.  On each occasion that the gas appliances etc. are altered in any way, the 

licence holder must produce to the Council a further certificate from a CORGI 

registered engineer concerning the condition of the gas appliances etc.  

IV.  he licences holder must produce to the Council annually for their inspection a 

gas safety certificate obtained in respect of the house within the last 12 months. 

1.9 The licence holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture made available 

by him in the house in a safe condition. In particular, the licence holder must 

ensure that all upholstered furniture and furnishing provided as part of the 

tenancy comply with the standards required in the Furniture and Furnishings 

(Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 as amended and any other statutory instrument 

or other enactment which may, after the date of licensing, directly or indirectly 

replace them, with or without amendment. On demand, the licence holder must 

supply the council with a declaration by him as to the safety of these appliances 

and furniture.  

1.10 With reference to the electrical installations in the house: - 

i.  The licence holder must ensure that all lighting to the common parts is 

sustained in good working order. 

ii.  The licence holder must ensure that at all times the electrical wiring to the 

lighting and power circuits, and the circuits to the fire alarm and emergency 

lighting systems and all electrical appliances (the ‘circuits and/or appliances’) 

provided as part of the tenancy arrangements are in a safe condition. 

iii.  Prior to licensing, the licence holder must produce to the Council, a certificate 

from a qualified electrician confirming the satisfactory condition of the circuits 

and/or installation.  

iv.  On each occasion that the circuits and/or installation are altered in any way, the 

licence holder must produce to the Council, a further certificate from a qualified 

Tudalen 37



24 
 

electrician confirming the satisfactory condition of the circuits and/or installation. 

v.  For the purposes of this condition, a ‘qualified electrician’ means a member of 

the Electrical Contractors Association (ECA), the National Inspection Council 

for Electrical Installation and Contracting (NICEIC) or the Institute of Electrical 

Engineers (MIEE). 

1.11 With reference to the fire alarm and detection system in the house, the licence 

holder must: 

i.  In relation to houses of more than 2 storeys, produce to the Council every 5 

years, a certificate from a qualified electrician concerning the condition of the 

electrical wiring and circuits to the system. 

ii.  On each occasion that the system and/or installation are altered in any way, the 

licence holder must produce to the Council, a further certificate from a qualified 

electrician concerning the condition of the circuits and/or installation. 

iii.  Carry out such other steps as necessary to ensure the fire alarm and detection 

system is maintained in good, operative order. This should include the testing of 

the alarm system by operating all alarm sounders in the dwelling at least once 

every month, annually testing each smoke detector for response to smoke, 

cleaning of the smoke detectors periodically in accordance with the 

manufacturer’s instruction, or such other measures as may be deemed 

appropriate to the circumstances.  

iv.   Keep a written record of testing and maintenance of the alarm system, for 

example in the form of a log book. This record must be made available for 

inspection upon demand.  

  

 2.  Community and Environmental Matters.  

  

2.1 The licence holder must ensure that all reasonably practicable means are used 

to ensure that the occupants of (and their visitors to) the property;  

a.  refrain from engaging in conduct causing or likely to cause nuisance or 

annoyance to a person residing, visiting or otherwise engaged in lawful activity 

in the locality, particularly in the following ways: - 

 the playing of amplified (or other) music which is audible in the 

neighbouring properties or the streets; 

 behaviour constituting breach of the peace or contravening the Public Order 

Act 1986, the Criminal Justice Act 1994 or other relevant enactment; 

Tudalen 38



25 
 

  

b refrain from using the property or allowing it to be used for illegal purposes or 

for an arrest-able offence committed in the property or the locality; 

and to this effect, the licence holder must take steps to ensure the occupants of 

the property are aware of the conditions imposed by the Council relating to their 

behaviour and this must be done at the commencement of any tenancy, as a 

minimum.   

  

2.2 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to co-operate with the 

Council over any action or investigation they may undertake in respect of anti-

social behaviour arising in connection with the occupiers of (or visitors to) the 

licensed HMO.  

2.3 The licence holder must ensure that the external structures, gardens and 

yards of the house are maintained in satisfactory repair (including decorative 

repair), clean condition and good order so as not to be detrimental to the 

amenity of the locality or neighbourhood.  The terms ‘structures’ includes 

windows, doors, roof, facia and soffit boards, rainwater goods and boundary 

walls, gates and fences. 

2.4 The licence holder must ensure that adequate and suitable refuse storage 

receptacles are provided for the exclusive use of the occupiers of the property.  

2.5 The licence holder shall ensure that the occupiers of the house have written 

notification of the relevant collection and disposal arrangements for refuse 

arising from the property. The written notification shall include a statement that 

it is an offence to place refuse for collection on the public highway, public 

footpath or other designated collection point earlier than 12 hours before the 

scheduled time of collection. The licence holder must notify the occupiers of 

the HMO that they shall not permit litter or refuse to spread from the house 

onto the street or other land outside the curtilage of the house. 

2.6 The licence holder must ensure so far as practicable that the external areas 

within the curtilage of the property are kept clean, are free of accumulations of 

waste and are free from rodent infestations.  

Keep a written record of testing and maintenance of the alarm system, for 

example in the form of a log book. This record must be made available for 

inspection upon demand.  

 

 

Tudalen 39



26 
 

  2. Community and Environmental Matters.  

  

2.1 The licence holder must ensure that all reasonably practicable means are used 

to ensure that the occupants of (and their visitors to) the property;  

a.  refrain from engaging in conduct causing or likely to cause nuisance or 

annoyance to a person residing, visiting or otherwise engaged in lawful activity 

in the locality, particularly in the following ways: - 

 the playing of amplified (or other) music which is audible in the neighbouring 

properties or the streets; 

 behaviour constituting breach of the peace or contravening the Public Order Act 

1986, the Criminal Justice Act 1994 or other relevant enactment; 

  

b. refrain from using the property or allowing it to be used for illegal purposes or 

for an arrest-able offence committed in the property or the locality; 

and to this effect, the licence holder must take steps to ensure the occupants of 

the property are aware of the conditions imposed by the Council relating to their 

behaviour and this must be done at the commencement of any tenancy, as a 

minimum.   

  

2.2 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to co-operate with the 

Council over any action or investigation they may undertake in respect of anti-

social behaviour arising in connection with the occupiers of (or visitors to) the 

licensed HMO.  

2.3 The licence holder must ensure that the external structures, gardens and 

yards of the house are maintained in satisfactory repair (including decorative 

repair), clean condition and good order so as not to be detrimental to the 

amenity of the locality or neighbourhood.  The terms ‘structures’ includes 

windows, doors, roof, facia and soffit boards, rainwater goods and boundary 

walls, gates and fences. 

2.4 The licence holder must ensure that adequate and suitable refuse storage 

receptacles are provided for the exclusive use of the occupiers of the property.  

2.5 The licence holder shall ensure that the occupiers of the house have written 

notification of the relevant collection and disposal arrangements for refuse 

arising from the property. The written notification shall include a statement that 

it is an offence to place refuse for collection on the public highway, public 

Tudalen 40



27 
 

footpath or other designated collection point earlier than 12 hours before the 

scheduled time of collection. The licence holder must notify the occupiers of 

the HMO that they shall not permit litter or refuse to spread from the house 

onto the street or other land outside the curtilage of the house. 

2.6 The licence holder must ensure so far as practicable that the external areas 

within the curtilage of the property are kept clean, are free of accumulations of 

waste and are free from rodent infestations.  

 

Reference and Further Information 

Welsh Government: HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION; Practice Guidance, 

Feb 2016  

Cardiff City Council: Evaluation of Cathays Additional Licensing Scheme 2010 -2015 

 Rent Smart Wales: www.rentsmart.gov.wales/en/ 

  

Treforest Property Accreditation Scheme  

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/PropertyAccreditationSch

eme.aspx  

  

Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Landlord Handbook V2 

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Housing/RelatedDocuments/LicenceHandbo

ok2014AdditionalLicensingSchemeVersion2March2017.pdf  

  

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy—The Domestic PRS Property 

Minimum Standard 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/698541/Domestic_Private_Rented_Landlord_Guidance_-

_March_18.pdf  

Tudalen 41

http://www.rentsmart.gov.wales/en/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/PropertyAccreditationScheme.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/PropertyAccreditationScheme.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Housing/RelatedDocuments/LicenceHandbook2014AdditionalLicensingSchemeVersion2March2017.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Housing/RelatedDocuments/LicenceHandbook2014AdditionalLicensingSchemeVersion2March2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698541/Domestic_Private_Rented_Landlord_Guidance_-_March_18.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698541/Domestic_Private_Rented_Landlord_Guidance_-_March_18.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698541/Domestic_Private_Rented_Landlord_Guidance_-_March_18.pdf


 1 

Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

Additional Licence Scheme Review 

Consultation Report 

September 2018 

 

  

Tudalen 42



 2 

Contents 

1.  Summary        3 
2.  Purpose of Report 
3.  Introduction 

 
4.   Record of Consultation      4 
4.1   SNAP Survey 
4.2   Means of Delivery  

5  Survey Responses      5 

6  Survey Analysis       9 

Appendix 1 

Copies of Media Used for Consultation    12 

Landlord Email        12 

Snap Survey Content       13 

Current Consultation Web Page     15 

HMO Web Page        16 

Frequently Asked Questions     17 

RCTCBC Social Media      18 

Landlords Newsletter       18 

 

Appendix 2 

Survey Comments       20 

 

 

 

       

  

Tudalen 43



 3 

1. Summary: 

The Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council Additional Licensing (Houses in 
Multiple Occupation) Scheme came into force on the 1st of April 2014 and extended 
the scope of Mandatory licensing to cover most rented property with 3 or more 
occupiers who form 2 or more households regardless of how many storeys the 
property has.  
 
The Scheme was initially intended to run for a period of 5 years, at the end of which, 
the Council are then obliged to undertake a review as to whether it has achieved its 
objectives, it is still fit for purpose and whether it should be extended for a further 5 
years.  
 
As part of the review process there is a requirement for the council to undertake a 
consultation with key stake-holders to ascertain as to whether there is support for the 
scheme to be extended. 
 
2. Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is to provide a record of the HMO Additional Licensing 
Scheme consultation process in respect of the methods and mechanisms of 
consultation, the numbers of stake-holders consulted and the content of the 
representations received.  
 
3. Introduction 

As of May 2018 there were an estimated 14,353 private rented properties in 
Rhondda Cynon Taff which represented approximately 13.35% of the RCT Housing 
stock. The private rented sector is increasingly relied upon to provide a wide range of 
housing options within the borough not currently available through the owner 
occupied and social housing sectors. 
 
Historically HMO’s in RCT have been the domain of students and this associated 
demand have seen the highest concentrations developed in areas adjacent to the 
university, predominantly the Treforest ward. 
 
Since 2009 and the phased implementation of Welfare Benefit reforms, there has 
been a growing demand for affordable accommodation options for single person 
households restricted to the cost of a room in a shared house. Conversely, 
reductions in student numbers has been instrumental in a significant change in the 
use of HMO’s in the Treforest ward and HMO landlords have had to adapt to this 
change in the market to negate the inability to let their properties and in-turn cater to 
the non-student single person demand accordingly. 
 

Tudalen 44



 4 

RCT Additional licensing scheme serves a dual purpose, both to protect the safety of 
tenants living in HMOs and also to minimise the impact of shared housing on the 
character and amenity of the surrounding area. Changes in the market, as currently 
in operation in Treforest, present a prime example of how the RCT HMO licensing 
Scheme can be utilised in tandem with additional council initiatives to govern, 
monitor and enhance the quality of both the property and its management. The ALS 
ultimately serves to mitigate the negative impacts associated with high densities of 
HMO’s and effectively manages the changes in the dynamics of the housing market, 
that, if left un-checked, could have an adverse impact on the desirability of an area, a 
rise in anti-social behaviour and a breakdown of social cohesion.  
 

 

4. Record of Consultation 

The consultation process was opened to stake-holders as of the 6th of August 2018 
and ran up until the 15th of September 2018 a period of 6-weeks. 

Key Stakeholders identified for engagement were: 

 University of South Wales & Students Union 
 Students 
 Tenants 
 Landlords 
 Letting Agents 
 Local Residents 

The primary mechanism for recording representations was by means of an on line 
Survey. 

 

4.1 SNAP Survey 

SNAP is an on-line system providing a digital mechanism for the collation of 
consultation responses. Interested parties are able to access the system via 
hyperlinks set within a range of media designed to enable a fast and efficient means 
of engagement. 

 

 

4.2 Means of Delivery. 

• An email database of 972 landlord’s agents and associated services were 
emailed and provided with details of the consultation and hyperlinks to the 
SNAP survey. 

Tudalen 45



 5 

• The Landlords Newsletter was circulated to a mailing list of 972 landlords and 
agents providing notification of the consultation and hyperlink to the survey. 

• RCTCBC social media carried posts of the consultation and provided links to 
the SNAP survey. A total 40 posts were delivered via Facebook and Twitter to 
potentially 151187 people and was shared 117 times 

• The University of South Wales and Students Union notified students via their 
internal emailing system and provided the link to the SNAP Survey. 

• The RCTCBC website provided details of the consultation via the Current 
Consultation and Houses of Multiple Occupation web pages. 

• Door to door surveys were conducted in Treforest, Aberdare, Pentre with 
approx. 500 properties knocked. 

• The Treforest Resident association and PACT provided with hard copies of 
the survey and individual collection arrangements agreed. 

  

5. Survey Responses. 

During the period of the consultation there were a total of 146 respondents. 

 

Q1 Respondents Place of Residence 

Pentre 6 

Pontyclun 2 

Pontypridd 3 

RCT 2 

Reading  1 

Rhondda 1 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 1 

Rhydyfelin 1 

Ton Pentre 7 

Treforest 77 

Vale of Glamorgan 1 

Ystrad 1 

Total  103 

 

Of the 144 respondents 43 did not complete their place of residence 

 

Tudalen 46



 6 

 

 

 

 

 

20 

17 

21 79 

5 2 

Q2 . Respondent by Tenure  

A landlord 

A student 

A tenant 

An owner occupier 

Other 

Prefer not to say 

60 

9 

75 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

No Not sure Yes  

Q 3 . H AV E  YO U  H E A R D  O F  T H E  H M O  A D D I T I O N A L  
L I C E N C E  S C H E M E ?  

14 

44 

86 

0 
10 
20 
30 
40 
50 
60 
70 
80 
90 

100 

No Not sure Yes 

Q4. Are There Any HMOs In Your Area? 

Tudalen 47



 7 

 

 

Q.6 Where a concern was raised regarding HMO the respondent was able to choose 
one lead reason from a list of 6 examples: - 

 

 

 

47 

34 

63 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

No Not sure Yes 

Q5. Do You Have Any Concerns About The HMOs In Your Area? 

30 

7 

15 

1 

5 

3 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 

Anti-social behaviour 

Appearance 

Disrepair 

Fire safety 

Litter 

Noise 

Q6. WHAT ARE YOUR CONCERNS REGARDING THE HMOS IN 
YOUR AREA? 

23 
32 

89 

0 
10 
20 
30 
40 
50 
60 
70 
80 
90 

100 

Total 

Q7. DO YOU THINK THE HMO LICENSING SCHEME CAN IMPROVE THE 
QUALITY AND APPEARANCE OF HOUSES OF MULTIPLE OCCUPATION? 

No 

Not sure 

Yes 

Tudalen 48



 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 

32 

92 

TOTAL 

Q8. Do You Think The Additional Licensing Scheme Can Serve To 
Improve The Safety And Security Of HMOs 

No 

Not sure 

Yes 

32 
38 

74 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

Total 

Q9. Do You Think Additional Licensing Can Provide An Effective Way Of 
Preventing Anti-Social Behaviour 

No 

Not sure 

Yes 

25 
32 

87 

TOTAL 

Q10. Do You Think Additional Licensing Scheme Can Improve The 
Management of HMOs? 

No 

Not sure 

Yes 

Tudalen 49



 9 

 

 

6.  

Survey Analysis 
Q1 Place of Residence 

There were a total of 148 Respondents to the consultation held between the 6th of 
August and the 15th of September. 

Of the 144 respondents 103 confirmed their place of residence. 72% of respondents 
that confirmed their place of residents were from the Treforest area. 

Q2 Respondent by Tenure 

55% owner occupiers 

14% Tenant 

13% Landlord 

12% Student 

4% Other 

1% Prefer Not to Say 

Q3 Have You Heard of the HMO Additional Licence Scheme. 

52% of respondents confirmed that they had heard of the ALS  

42% had not heard of the ALS 

6% were unsure. 

Q4 Are There Any HMOs in Your Area 

60% stated there were HMOs in their area 

31% were unsure 

16 

35 

93 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

100 

Would You Like To See The Additional Licensing Scheme Continued? 

No 

Not sure 

Yes 

Tudalen 50



 10 

9% stated there were no HMOs in their area 

Q5 Do You Have Any Concerns About The HMOs in Your Area 

44% confirmed they had concerns about the HMOs in their area 

33% had no concerns 

24% were unsure whether there were concerns regarding HMOs in their area 

Q6 What are your concerns regarding the HMOs in Your Area 

A total of 61 respondent stated they had concerns regarding the HMOs in their area, 
they were then requested to confirm a lead issue. 

49% raised concerns in regards to anti-social behaviour in general 

25% raised concerns in regards to Disrepair of properties 

11% raised concerns in regards to the appearance of the properties 

8% raised concerns regarding litter 

5% raised concerns in regards to Noise Nuisance 

2% raised concerns in regards to fire safety. 

Q7 Do You Think The HMO Licence Scheme Can Improve the Quality and 
Appearance of Houses of Multiple Occupation 

62% confirmed yes  

22% said No 

16% where unsure as to whether the Additional Licence scheme served to improve 
the quality and appearance of HMOs 

Q8 Do You Think the Additional Licensing Scheme Can Serve to Improve the 
Safety and Security of HMOs 

64% thought the ALS could serve to improve Safety and security of HMOs 

22% were unsure 

14% Did not think the ALS could serve to improve Safety and security of HMOs 

 

Q9 Do You Think Additional Licensing Can Provide an Effective Way of 
Preventing Anti-Social Behaviour 

61% agreed that ALS was an effective way of preventing ASB 

21% Were unsure 

17% did not think ALS did not provide a means for preventing ASB 

Tudalen 51



 11 

Q10 Do You Think Additional Licensing Can Improve the Management of 
HMOs 

61% stated an ALS could serve to improve the management of HMOs 

22% were unsure 

17% felt that an ALS did not serve to improve the management of HMOs 

 

Q11 Would You Like to See the Additional Licensing Scheme Continued 

65% of respondents confirmed they would like the Additional Licensing Scheme to 
continue 

24% where unsure 

11% did not want the Additional Licence Scheme to continue. 

 

Over 60% of respondents confirmed their support for the objectives of the HMO 
Additional Licensing Scheme as a means of monitoring and raising the standards of 
HMO accommodation and its effective management. 

The main benefit of the ALS was as a means of reducing incidents of anti-social 
behaviour in all its forms. 

65% of all respondents were in agreement with continuing with the HMO Additional 
Licensing Scheme as opposed to just 11% of respondents who did not want the 
scheme to continue. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 52



 12 

Appendix 1 

Copies of Media Utilised for Consultation 

 

Email Sent to 972 Landlords, Agents and Associated Services.  
      
       
Dear Landlords, 
  
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council are currently reviewing their HMO 
Additional Licence Scheme and would be grateful for your assistance. 
  
For full details on Houses of Multiple Occupation please visit the councils web page 
  
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupati
on.aspx 

Houses in multiple occupation | Rhondda Cynon Taf County ... 

www.rctcbc.gov.uk 

Houses in multiple occupation information and advice in Rhondda Cynon 
Taf. 

 
To complete the on-line survey  
https://www.snapsurveys.com/wh/s.asp?k=153270711302  
  
Please see attached Frequently Asked Questions 
  
Thank you for your time and assistance in raising and maintaining the standards of 
rented accommodation in RCT. 

              
              
              
  
      
              
  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 53

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupation.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupation.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupation.aspx
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/
https://www.snapsurveys.com/wh/s.asp?k=153270711302


 13 

SNAP Survey Content. 

 

Tudalen 54



 14 

 
 

 

Tudalen 55



 15 

 

 
 

RCTCBC Current Consultations (Web Page) 

 

 

Tudalen 56



 16 

RCTCBC Houses of Multiple Occupation.  

 

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupati
on.aspx

 

Tudalen 57

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupation.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupation.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LandlordGuidance/Housesinmultipleoccupation.aspx


 17 

 
Frequently Asked Questions 

 
Houses of Multiple Occupation Additional Licensing scheme. 

 
Q. What is a House of Multiple Occupation? 
A. A building, or part of a building, will be an HMO if: 

 it is occupied by persons who do not form a single household; and 

 it is occupied by those persons as their only or main residence and their 

occupation of the living accommodation constitutes the only use of that 

accommodation; and 

 rent is payable by at least one of the occupiers; and 

 two or more of the households who occupy the living accommodation share 

one or more basic amenities or the living accommodation is lacking in one or 

more basic amenities 

Purpose built blocks of self-contained flats are not HMOs, but houses or buildings 

which have been converted into a block of flats may be a HMO if: 

• the standard of conversion does not comply with the 1991 Building Regulations; 

and 

• less than two thirds of the flats are owner occupied. 
 
Q. What is HMO Additional Licensing? 

A. The Housing Act 2004 allows local Authorities to specify that landlords of 
some or all Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) must apply for a license if they 
want to let to tenants.  A scheme can cover the whole of the Authority’s area and all 
types of HMOs, or can be designed for a specific area and specific HMOs.  An 
additional licensing scheme can last for a maximum of 5 years at which point it is 
reviewed to confirm it has achieved the desired outcomes and whether it should be 
extended or withdrawn. 

Licensing gives The Council the power to require all landlords of HMOs (included in 
the scheme) to apply for a license and provide details of the management 
arrangements and the property.  This will enable officers to know where these 
properties are and place conditions on the license holder to ensure minimum 
standards of safety, welfare and management are maintained.   

License holders will have to be fit and proper persons and satisfactory management 
arrangements will have to be in place.   

Landlords will have to pay a fee for each license application to cover the Council’s 
costs of running the scheme.   

Tudalen 58



 18 

The council will compile a register of licensed properties with landlords contact 
details and maximum occupancy and property details. The register of HMOs will be 
available to the public so they can find out who manages HMOs near them and are 
able to more quickly and easily report problems. 

The council will be able to proactively inspect licensed properties to deal with any 
significant health and safety hazards and ensure they meet minimum management 
requirements. 

Where landlords are unable to meet the licensing requirements the council can 
pursue the necessary sanctions against the landlord which could include prosecution 
and forcing a change of management of the property.   

Operating a property covered by the designation without a license is an offence 
punishable by a fine up to £20,000. 

 
Q. How many HMOs are there in RCT? 
A. As of April 2018 there were 544 Licensed HMOs with another 22 properties 

pending completion of their license application.  
 

 

RCTCBC Social Media 

 

Facebook 

 The landlords of houses of multiple occupancy - such as student digs - have 
to meet additional licensing standards to protect tenants and the wider 
community - have your say here: http://socsi.in/wbyi5 

Twitter 

 Are you the landlord of a House of Multiple Occupation (HMO)? Have your 
say in our review of the Additional Licensing Scheme, introduced to further 
improve the quality and management of rented accommodation in RCT. 
http://socsi.in/VBwvj 

 

 

Landlords Newsletter. 

An article relating to enforcement of the Additional Licencing Scheme was covered in 
the Landlords Newsletter circulated via email on the 30/08/18 to 972 Landlords, 
Agents and associated services. Hyperlinks to the survey were contained within the 
article. 

Tudalen 59

http://socsi.in/VBwvj


 19 

 

  

Tudalen 60



 20 

Appendix 2 

Survey Comments 

Respondents were able to comment on aspects of the Additional licensing scheme 
and its objectives in regards to the curtailment of Anti-social behaviour and the 
accountability of landlords and their management practice. 

 

Landlord Comments 

The additional licensing scheme distracts EHO's from focusing on the really poor 
properties and landlords and they end up focusing on getting paperwork filled out.  
They have all the powers they need and this is a tax and bureaucratic system 
which slows down effective enforcement. 

Another form of taxation by the local authority. RCT are doing their best to 
increase the overall number of residential houses in the Treforest area 

I believe the present scheme is quite adequate for the people who register and 
comply with the regulations you already have in place. The problems you have are 
with the persons who do not register and comply with the safety regulations which 
are in place. Any changes you may in visage would once again be carried out by 
persons who are registered, and already comply with the rules and not by the 
people who are not registered 

As a landlord I try my hardest to keep my HMO up to regulated standards at all 
times. In RCT I have found it increasingly difficult to get tenants since South Wales 
University seems to work more closely with student accommodations in Cardiff. 
Also I think that if a HMO is issued, landlords should be able to rent house at to 
family's if need be, I have been informed that this should not happen? Increased 
licensing will no doubt increase costs and overheads where rents have decreased 
and cost gone up! 

Enough checks and balances and training together with sufficient enforcement and 
sanction options under the Rent Smart Wales legislation - further costs and 
enforcement not required. 

Existing refuse storage and collection policies are not helpful or clear. Refuse 
regularly left uncollected. 

Tudalen 61



 21 

Personally I don't see these schemes working, generally its more of a way of 
generating revenue for councils, some other councils are dropping the schemes or 
modifying them due a recent court case.................................In a case between 
HMO landlord Peter Gaskin and The London Borough of Richmond Upon Thames, 
the administrative court ruled that HMO licence fees charged by local authorities 
can only cover the cost of the licencing scheme, not the cost of enforcing the 
scheme. HMO licenses have to be renewed every five years and when Gaskin 
came to renew his licence the council asked him to pay a fee covering not only the 
costs of processing his application, but the authority’s costs of running the 
licensing scheme. 

The Housing industry needs a shift and rejuvenation.  But Additional HMO Rules is 
the wrong approach. It will drive house prices up. It will reduce the number of 
available single occupancy houses. It will penalise landlords. It will make the 
already short numbers of property even shorter.  It will drive more landlords out of 
the business and create unemployment. It will see a rise in abandoned properties 
by landlords.  Its just a badly thought idea.  Cut the red tape in the buying process 
and there will be more housing.  Regulate solicitor's exploitation of landlords and 
there will be more affordable houses hence reducing the need for having few badly 
behaved people in one HMO area. Regulate companies selling repossession 
properties and assist more properties available soon hence reducing the need for 
more HMOs.  But let good landlords produce more HMOs. Just don't restrict them, 
but regulate the sizes of rooms and that shall be fine. 

Students 

Stricter Control 

To prevent stuff including anti-social behaviour you need to higher the image of 
housing; such as higher the quality and focus on the appearance a bit more 

Tenants 

Treforest needs high quality HMO’s to attract students to USW to help keep 
Treforest a busy vibrant village, as this would have a knock on effect to businesses 
and leave empty properties which could lead to other issues. 

I live in a rent house but I keep my home inside and outside clean and tidy. 

Tudalen 62



 22 

This scheme is a great start, but, there needs to be more emphasis on those 
landlords that do not keep their properties in good repair and also those who turn a 
blind eye to the tenants antisocial and illegal behaviour. This should then be 
extended to all private rented property. 

Owner Occupier 

I was intending to buy property for letting but have now shelved the idea. 
 

I have rental properties in the Treforest area of which have HMO licences.  I 
believe HMO licensing is a good idea and provided the scheme isn't restricted to 
allow a landlord to obtain a licence then I am a supporter.  I believe a problem 
occurs under the additional licensing scheme where the local authority will not 
issue a licence even when a landlord has met all requirements. 

I hope there that there won't be any more approval for his. There are lots of empty 
houses at present. There are problems with rubbish as not putting it out on correct 
day and being ripped apart. Hardly any recycling done. Parking problems as too 
many cars if too many HMO's. No respect for the properties and lots of 
unscrupulous landlords. They need to take responsibility for them. I.e. at end of 
term students have gone home and put rubbish out before they left. Land lords 
should visit and sort. 

As it currently stands whatever process is in place doesn’t seem to work, there is 
no effort from landlords or the tenants in question to maintain or look after the 
property or the area, lack of penalties and consequences makes the area a 
playground for thugs and disrespectful students to as they wish whenever they 
wish. There is a tremendous lack of housing across the whole of the UK and 
Treforest occupies a high unoccupied rate even during university term period. 
Landlord should have to show commitment to making a positive impact on the 
community as it’s us the people who live here who have to deal with all the 
problems when the landlords and students can just up and leave whenever they 
please. Treforest is a tip there is no commitment from the council to actively 
maintain the area as they do places where all their residents pay council tax. It’s a 
failing by the landlords, students and council and something needs to be done 
before the only people who contribute the area financially and by other means 
leave for good 

Tudalen 63



 23 

Absent landlords are a major factor in Treforest, we have far too many HMO 
properties in Treforest, the culprit being University of Wales , which has now left 
Treforest  an absolute disgrace 

When I have spoken to the council about individuals specifically moved to HMO in 
Treforest, the council were not interested in dealing with it. My wife and children 
are exposed to some unsavoury characters bringing the area down. Known people 
also are dealing drugs out of some and incidents occur regularly! For a father, this 
is questioning whether I should move from my area if this is not addressed! 

The scheme could improve anti-social behaviour, litter, appearance etc. but from 
walking around my area I don’t see any evidence of it being enforced.   Landlords 
appear to be able to do what they want e.g. put litter out on the street days before 
its due to be collected thus leaving the area dirty.  We’ve had to call the council to 
deal with rats on our property due to the HMO residents next to us putting their 
food waste directly into their garden (they were observed doing this).  
Management company appeared to not care.  It feels that as long as the 
landlord/management get their money they don’t care. 

My house was built in 1840 and originally had 7 occupants, fast forward 180 years 
and with HMOs nothing has changed apart from theme noise, the anti-social 
behaviour, the filth, nowhere to park HMOs are a blight on society, get rid. 

There was only one choice regarding the impact of HMOs on the local community. 
Unfortunately, all of the above are a problem along with parking of cars 

We have a lot of trouble with parking because student house Can have up to 4 or 
5 cars per house 

Treforest has become a right XXXX hole I pay my rates and bills .and I worked all 
my life. I love  living in Treforest but it is not safe to walk the streets. 

Fed up of seeing the houses in this area being left to rot!! 

Good Job done by local Authority 

There are too many HMO’s in Treforest and something should be done to stop the 
greedy landlords from putting anyone in these houses just to get money most of 
landlords are fine and look after the properties but some don’t care 

Tudalen 64



 24 

It's not a short term fix.  The area has deteriorated over the last few decades and 
will take a long time to improve.  There needs to be a focus on bringing families 
with children back into the area. 

The whole of Treforest needs to be looked at, too many HMOs, no need for any 
more to be built. 

The licensing scheme has been watered down over the years which has made it 
easier for people to rent properties as HMO’s. The licensing process that I 
undertook to register my properties many years ago was much stricter. 

as far as I can see everyone looks the other way you don't follow it up 

Far too many HMOs in Treforest should be limited to a percentage of each street 
or road 

Without the Scheme Treforest community would be destroyed. 

Make sure it's clean and tidy around the area. 

Gives reassurance to permanent residents. 

The additional licensing scheme is absolutely necessary to ensure that houses of 
multiple occupation in Treforest are better managed as well as the associated 
issues such as anti-social behaviour.    The demand for student accommodation in 
Treforest has changed in recent years as student numbers have decreased yet the 
standards in unlicensed accommodation particularly give cause for concern. 
Additional licensing helps to a certain degree as does enforcement and 
prosecution of unlicensed housing as it serves to discourage rogue landlords and 
promote compliance.  I deal with community complaints as part of my job role and 
the public health and protection team have proved vital in terms of advising on 
licensed and unlicensed properties where (alleged) anti-social behaviour has 
occurred and of course in ensuring that standards are met.   Students are 
vulnerable and without the safety net of additional licensing could be at further risk 
of exploitation by rogue landlords. 

Tudalen 65



 25 

There are concerns about every aspect of HMOs, but question 6 only allowed one 
choice.    Treforest has    the greatest number of HMOs in the borough and many 
of the HMOs are still not licensed.    We have provided the Local Authority with a 
large list of potential HMOs that were not licensed.    Treforest has been 
devastated by the high density of HMOs and if   the community is to be 
regenerated, it is essential that the Additional Licensing Scheme continues.    
Respectfully, can you please continue with the Additional HMO Licensing scheme, 
without the scheme Treforest would be completely destroyed. 

there are far too many student accommodations in Treforest and not enough 
affordable accommodation for single or small families of the community.  which is 
destroying the community vibe 

 

 

  

 

Tudalen 66



 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018-2019 
 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 

Agenda Item No.   

9th October 2018 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR FOR 
REGENERATION, PLANNING AND 
HOUSING  
 

 
 

DRAFT EMPTY HOMES  
STRATEGY 

 
Author:  Derek James, Head of Regeneration and Prosperity 

Jennifer Ellis, Housing Strategy and Investment Manager  
 
Appendices: Draft Empty Homes Strategy (2018-2021) 

 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform members about the Council’s proposed 

approach to tackling empty homes which is set out in the Council’s draft 
Empty Homes Strategy for the period 2018 -2021. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Members scrutinise and comment on the draft Empty 

Homes Strategy (2018-2021) and in particular consider 
 

• The Council’s performance over the last few years in tackling empty 
homes 

• The aims of the strategy and whether there are any others that could be 
considered 

• The factors that affect the number and location of empty homes and 
whether the Strategy has identified these comprehensively 

• The proposal to proactively target the 684 long term empty private sector 
homes 

• Whether there are any other interventions or vehicles that the Council should  
Consider 

•  That the feedback of this committee be presented to Cabinet for 
consideration when determining this matter.  

 
3.0  BACKGROUND 
 

Tudalen 67

Agendwm 3



3.1 Empty private sector homes represent a wasted resource, financial expense 
both to the owners and the Council and in many cases a missed opportunity 
to provide much needed affordable housing for residents. Not only are they a 
waste of a valuable housing resource, but they can cause blight to 
communities and distress to residents affected by their unsightly appearance 
and propensity to attract crime and anti social behaviour.  

 
3.2 Council Tax records reveal that there were 3,556 private sector homes that 

were vacant for six months or more as at 1st April 2017. This equates to 3.8% 
of Rhondda Cynon Taf’s private housing (owner occupied and private rented) 
stock. The average for Wales is 2.4% with the lowest (Torfaen) having 0.78% 
of their stock empty.  

 
3.3 Whilst there are empty homes throughout the whole of Rhondda Cynon Taf, 

analysis shows the issue is most acute within several parts of the Rhondda. 
The percentages are generally not so high in Cynon and only one area, 
Penrhiwceiber has comparable levels to parts of the Rhondda Valleys. 
Conversely, most of Taf has a particularly low proportion of long term empty 
homes, with most areas typically containing less than 2% on average. This is 
perhaps unsurprising with demand for homes being significantly higher in Taf, 
although equally, empty homes within this area tend to be empty for reasons 
other than low demand (i.e. inheritance, sentimental reasons, and probate) 
and are thus more difficult to return to beneficial use. The only area that 
particularly bucks the trend is Treforest (5% empty), which is due to the lower 
demand for student accommodation in the private rented sector because of 
the increase in student rent provided directly by the University in recent years. 

 
3.4 However, it is important to note that whilst RCT does have amongst the 

highest numbers of empty homes in Wales, this is primarily due to level of 
‘churn’ in the housing market, rather than persistent long term empty homes. 
The annual collation of empty homes data is only a snapshot once a year and 
whilst at each point in the year the total number of empty homes recorded is 
quite high; most of the homes counted in each snapshot have only been 
empty for a relatively short period. For example, in the 1st April 2017 snapshot 
59% of homes that were empty had been vacant for less than three years and 
in total only 684 homes (9% of the total) appeared as empty in the last four 
successive snapshots (i.e. in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017). Most significantly, 
4,463 homes (60% of the total across the four years) appeared on only one of 
the snapshots. As such, the bulk of homes recorded over the last four years 
have only been empty for short periods before returning back into use through 
purchase or rental. Conversely, only a minority of homes (6%) were re-
recorded as empty again after being brought back into use over this period.  

 
3.5 The 684 empty homes that have been identified as being empty in all four 

snapshots are likely to be some of the most problematic empty homes in the 
County Borough, and ones that should be the focus of the Council’s 
enforcement and enabling activity going forward. Appendix 2 in the Strategy 
shows the location of these properties. The vast majority of the 684 empty 
homes are in the Rhondda Fach and Fawr. Interestingly, Treorchy has the 

Tudalen 68



second highest number of these properties (43), which is surprising as 
Treorchy has a high demand for housing.  

 
3.6 There are varying reasons why homes both become empty and remain empty 

for significant periods of time. This includes lack of demand for certain types 
of housing; absentee landlords who do not invest in their stock; owner inertia 
where for some owners maximising income from their asset is not a high 
priority perhaps due to lack of knowledge, legal disputes or sentimental 
reasons. Homes are also often empty due to their dilapidated condition. 
Research indicates that many owners are unable to carry out the necessary 
remedial works required to bring them up to an acceptable standard because 
of a lack of funds. These homes will remain empty until the essential works 
have been completed.    

 
3.7 Over the last few years, the Council has developed many tools and 

approaches to encourage empty homes to be brought back into use which 
have had a positive impact.  

 
This includes: 

 
• Housing enforcement activity utilising various housing and planning 

legislation 
• Provision of Houses into Homes loans utilising Welsh Government 

repayable funding 
• Provision of grants utilising the Council’s own funding - £4.1M since 

2016/17 
• Affordable housing schemes that bring empty homes back into use 
• Advice and assistance 
• Provision of homes above retail premises in Aberdare and Pontypridd 
• Removing the 50% Council Tax reduction for empty homes (From April 

2018 onwards) 
 

Appendix 1 in the main strategy document sets out a number of case studies 
that shows the impact of this work. 

 
3.8 Over the last four years, the Council has brought back into use 651 homes 

through direct action, loan or grant aid. Just under 1500 homes interventions 
have also taken place over this period to provide advice, serve notices or 
secure empty homes. When considered as a percentage, in the last year that 
statistics are available (2017-18), the Council brought 204 (5.7%) of its empty 
homes back into use. In comparison with other Welsh Local Authorities RCT 
was 2nd in relation to the number brought back into use, and ranked 8th for 
percentage 

 
 
4.0 THE STRATEGY 
 
4.1 Whilst it is acknowledged that good progress has been made in bringing 

empty homes back into use in RCT over the last few years, the scale of the 
problem still persists and continues to present problems in many 

Tudalen 69



communities. As such, a strong strategic approach is required which has 
objectives that are clear, deliverable and will make a difference to both the 
scale of empty homes that are brought back into use as well as having a more 
fundamental impact on the total number in order to reverse the trend in a 
sustainable way. 

 
4.2 To achieve this, the strategy sets out a series of strategic objectives that 

translate directly into a series of projects and actions: 
 

1. To develop partnerships and vehicles that will enable an increase in the 
scale of empty homes being brought back into use.  
 

This includes: 
 

• Actively engaging with housing associations, private sector partners, community 
groups and other stakeholders to identifying new funding models and 
programmes.  

• Establishing an Empty Homes Steering Group to co-ordinate delivery of the 
strategy and associated activity. 
 

2. To maximise the use of current funding and identify further funding models 
to increase the number of empty homes that are brought back into use.  
 

This includes: 
 

• Identifying new funding that can be levered into the County Borough to bring 
empty homes back into use. 

• Effective management of the Council’s Empty Property Grant and Houses into 
Homes (landlord) loan schemes. 
 

3. To continue to use a range of interventions to ensure all types of empty 
homes are targeted and enabled to be brought back into use and monitor 
the outcomes related to these closely.  
 

This includes: 
 

o Publicising activities through the use of social media and newspaper 
articles, local radio.  

o Sharing information with community groups and partnerships 
o The development of promotional literature such as leaflets and a 

comprehensive empty homes owner information pack and the continued 
development of a dedicated empty homes web page.  

o Targeting enforcement activity on the 684 longer term empty homes. This 
could involve replicating the Housing and Health Action Area approach 
(an area based approach) that has been successfully undertaken in 
Tylorstown over the last few years, in other wards where there are an 
identified higher than average number of empty homes. 

 
4. To undertake further research in communities and evaluation of existing 

schemes to understand why there are a high number of empty homes.  
 

This includes: 
 

Tudalen 70



• Analysis at borough wide and ward level, considering all factors that affect the 
number of empty homes. 

• Reviewing best practice and effectiveness of current interventions. 
 

5. To identify possible solutions that could prevent homes from becoming 
empty and also develop interventions for different market areas and types.  
 

This includes: 
 
• Analysis of localised housing market to understand the drivers that result in 

homes becoming empty, even for short periods. 
• Ensuring that the opportunity to strengthen the housing market and bring 

private sector empty homes back into use is maximised in the Council’s five 
identified Strategic Opportunity Areas, the Council’s Tourism Strategy; and in 
the context of the Cardiff City Region Deal, the Valleys Task Force, and Metro 
opportunities. 

• Considering selective demolition 

4.3 The Empty Homes Strategy will provide a framework for future empty homes 
activity and will enable the positive work undertaken over recent years to be 
built on to increase performance in this area overall.  

 
4.4 An annual action plan will be produced which will ensure that the strategic 

aims of the Strategy are delivered and key actions are undertaken.  
 
4.5 The Empty Homes Steering group will have responsibility for monitoring and 

delivering the action plan. This Group will be co-ordinated by the Housing 
Strategy Team and will include representatives from the following service 
areas:  

 
• Housing Grants 
• Housing Strategy  
• Housing Standards Team 
• Public Health Team 
• Regeneration and Planning 
• Highways  
• Other partners as required 

 
5.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 An equality and diversity screening exercise has been undertaken and a full 

impact assessment is not required at this time. Requirements for any specific 
assessments will be undertaken on an ongoing basis as strategy actions are 
delivered. 

 
 
6.0 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-

BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 
 
6.1 Investment in housing provides an ongoing stimulus to the local economy, by 

encouraging spending and local supply chains. Making available a supply of 

Tudalen 71



affordable homes also helps to improve the prosperity of residents and helps 
support a huge range of households in society that may not otherwise be able 
to meet their needs in the market, thereby promoting independence and 
positive lives for all. 

 
6.2 As such, this Empty Homes Strategy will contribute to the delivery all three of 

the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities of economy, people and place. The 
Strategy will also assist the Council to contribute to three of the seven 
wellbeing goals that ‘The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015’ 
puts in place as follows: 

 
1. A healthier Wales  
2. A prosperous Wales  
3. A Wales of cohesive communities  
 

  
 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
 
7.1 The report and strategy sets out the aims of the Council’s Empty Homes 

Strategy for the period 2018 -2021. 
 
7.2  The Council is already taking a proactive approach to bringing empty homes 

back into use within Rhondda Cynon Taf and has made available significant 
resources to tackle the issue. However, this Strategy will provide a framework 
for all empty homes activity and ensure a co-ordinated and ambitious 
approach going forward to decrease the total number of empty homes in the 
County Borough overall.  

 

Tudalen 72



 

 

 

 

RRhhoonnddddaa  CCyynnoonn  TTaaff  EEmmppttyy  HHoommeess  SSttrraatteeggyy  

22001188--22002211  

 

Tudalen 73



 

2 
 

 1 Introduction 

1.1 Background and strategic drivers 

The purpose of this Strategy is to provide a framework for all activity in the County 

Borough aimed at bringing empty homes back into use. It will replace the Cwm Taf 

Empty Property Strategy that was produced jointly with Merthyr Tydfil Borough 

Council in 2014. The need to have a distinct strategy for RCT going forward is in 

recognition of the high numbers of empty homes in the borough, especially in the 

North and the Council’s commitment to addressing the problem. It is also in 

appreciation of the continued pressure to deliver affordable housing. Whilst most 

new housing supply will be delivered through new build developments, bringing 

empty homes back into use can offer an economically viable option which can also 

contribute to increasing affordable housing supply, whilst at the same time having a 

positive impact on existing communities by improving environmental and social 

conditions. 

In 2015/16 a Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Working Group reviewed the 

issue of empty homes and made recommendations to Cabinet. One of the 

recommendations was to produce a new Empty Homes Strategy reflecting the 

findings and recommendations of the working group. 

In February 2016, the Council approved its Corporate Plan for 2016-2020. The focus 

of the Corporate Plan is on three priorities: 

• ECONOMY - Building a strong economy  

• PEOPLE - Promoting independence and positive lives for everyone 

• PLACE - Creating neighbourhoods where people are proud to live and work  

 

Bringing empty homes back into use contributes to all three of these priorities as 

well as assisting the Council to contribute to three of the seven wellbeing goals that 

‘The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015’ puts in place as follows: 

 

1. A healthier Wales  

2. A prosperous Wales  

Tudalen 74



 

3 
 

3. A Wales of cohesive communities  

 

Investment in housing provides an ongoing stimulus to the local economy, by 

supporting the construction industry and local supply chains. Making available a 

supply of affordable homes also helps to improve the prosperity of residents and 

helps support a huge range of households in society that may not otherwise be able 

to meet their needs in the market, thereby promoting independence and positive 

lives for all. 

1.2 National Context 

According to Welsh Government statistics, there are an estimated 1.4 million 

dwellings in Wales as of 31st March 2016. During 2016-2017 23,303 of these had 

been vacant for more than six months. Of these, 255 were brought back into use in 

2017-18.1 Empty homes represent a wasted resource, financial expense and in 

many cases a missed opportunity to provide much needed affordable housing for 

people in Wales. Not only are they a waste of a valuable housing resource, but they 

can cause blight to communities and distress to residents affected by their unsightly 

appearance and propensity to attract crime, vandals and anti social behaviour. In 

addition to this, living next door to an empty home can devalue a home by as much 

as 18% and unsightly homes deter investment in an area and leads to a more 

general cycle of decline. 2 

For many years, demand for housing in Wales has outstripped supply. This extra 

necessity for housing is driven by an increase in households, a growing population 

and changing demographics. The Welsh Government has an ambitious target of 

delivery an additional 20,000 new affordable homes by 2021. Whilst this target 

relates to new build homes,  it is acknowledged that better utilisation of the existing 

housing stock can help ease some of the burden to delivering these new homes 

whilst also acting as a catalyst for area regeneration and community sustainability. 

Studies have also shown that the average cost of returning empty homes to a 

habitable state is between £6,000 and £12,000 per property.3 This supports the 

statement that “bringing empty homes back into use not only provides much needed 

                                                           
1
 Source: Welsh Government 

2
 Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors 

3
 Chartered Institute of Housing – Information leaflet 

Tudalen 75



 

4 
 

affordable housing, but can also be a more economically viable option to new build”. 

4 For this reason, the Welsh Government has set an equally ambitious target of 5000 

empty homes to be brought back into use across Wales in the same period and RCT 

is required to contribute to this target.  

1.3 Local Context 

Rhondda Cynon Taf is the second largest authority in Wales with a population of 

234,410 and 105,269 dwellings. 5  Of these dwellings, 92,197 are in the private 

sector (either owner occupied or privately rented). As at April 2017, 3.8% of 

Rhondda Cynon Taf’s private housing stock was empty which equates to 3556 

empty homes. The average for Wales is 2.4% with the lowest (Torfaen) having 

0.78% of their stock empty. 

As shown in Figure 1, 59% of homes that were empty as at 1st April 2017 had been 

vacant for less than three years, whilst just over 13% had been vacant for over 6 

years. However, although this most recent snapshot provides a useful reference 

point, trend data provides a much more reliable overview of the longer term situation. 

An analysis of four annual empty homes snapshots was carried out from 1st April 

2014 to 2017. In total, only 684 homes (9% of the total) appeared on all four 

successive snapshots (i.e. in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017) and 1,351 homes (18% of 

the total) appeared on 2 consecutive snapshots before ceasing to feature on future 

data collections. Most significantly, 4,463 homes (60% of the total) appeared on one 

of the snapshots in four years. Whilst many of these homes were empty for longer 

than a single year, they were not empty for so long as to span two annual data 

collections and can therefore be considered ‘transactional’. In other words, the bulk 

of homes recorded over the last four years have only been empty for short periods 

before returning back into use through purchase or rental. Conversely, only a 

minority of homes (6%) were re-recorded as empty again after being brought back 

into use over this period.  

This data reveals some interesting trends to help illuminate the related problems in 

the County Borough. Firstly, 684 empty homes have now been identified as having 

                                                           
4
 Empty Homes Agency (2016) 

5
 Source: Welsh Government key statistics 

Tudalen 76



 

5 
 

appeared on all four snapshots without returning into beneficial use. These are likely 

to be some of the most problematic empty homes in the County Borough, although 

they are a relatively minor element of the overall issue. Appendix 2 shows the 

location of these 684 ‘long term’ empty homes. Secondly, whilst RCT does have 

amongst the highest numbers of empty homes in Wales at any given point, this is 

primarily due to level of ‘churn’ in the housing market, rather than persistent long 

term empty homes. 

  

To consider this information at a more localised level, Figure 2 depicts the 

percentage of all dwellings that were long term empty homes on 1st April 2017 at 

ward level. This was enabled by comparing council tax records to housing stock from 

the Local Land and Property Gazetteer. This provides a useful representative 

comparison of private sector empty homes between areas, which is not otherwise 

enabled by looking at the quantity of homes alone. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Long Term Empty Property Void Time as at 1st April 
2017 

Less than 2 years 

2 to less than 3 years 

3 to less than 4 years 

4 to less than 6 years 

6 to less than 10 years 

10 years or more 

Tudalen 77



 

6 
 

 

 

Looking at the number of empty homes as a percentage of the total housing stock, 

enables us to pinpoint the areas that are worst affected. Whilst there are empty 

homes throughout the whole of Rhondda Cynon Taf, analysis shows that in the most 

recent snapshot, the issue is most acute within several parts of the Rhondda. The 

Figure 2: Percentages of Private Sector Empty Homes by Ward 

Tudalen 78



 

7 
 

percentages are generally not so high in Cynon and only one area (Penrhiwceiber) 

displayed comparable levels to parts of the Rhondda Valleys. Conversely, most of 

Taf has a particularly low proportion of long term empty homes, with most areas 

typically containing less than 2% on average. This is perhaps unsurprising with 

demand for properties being significantly higher in Taf, although, equally, empty 

properties within this area tend to be empty for reasons other than low demand (i.e. 

inheritance, sentimental reasons, and probate) and are thus more difficult to return to 

beneficial use. The only area that particularly bucks the trend is Treforest (5%), 

which is predictable given the lower demand for student accommodation in the 

private rented sector because of the increase in student rent provided directly by the 

University.6 

 

2. Challenges to bringing empty homes back into use. 

There are a number of different and sometimes localised reasons why homes 

become empty, some of which are: 

2.1 Lack of local demand for homes 

Although the current housing market has resulted in a decline in the numbers of 

people being able to buy or rent a property, dwellings still remain empty in areas 

even where there are potential occupiers. Research shows that this is because there 

are too many similar homes for sale in the same locality and there is not sufficient 

variety in the localised housing market. 

2.2 Housing market conditions 

According to the latest UK housing market survey, eight of the 10 cheapest places to 

buy a house in the UK are in the South Wales valleys. This has lead to speculative 

investment purchases in areas where there is little demand or an over supply of 

similar, usually family, terraced properties.  Local knowledge suggests that in areas 

of low demand many homes are sold via auction and to purchasers who do not know 

the area or understand the local market. Empty homes are often bought without 

being viewed because buyers are attracted by the low price. These new owners are 

                                                           
6
 Local Housing Market Assessment 

Tudalen 79



 

8 
 

then unprepared for instances of  unseen refurbishment work or low demand and 

may not have the resources or intentions to invest in the property further and this 

results in homes remaining empty for longer.  It can further lead to a situation where 

properties are “land banked” and left vacant waiting for an upturn in the housing 

market which may never materialise.  

2.3 Owner inertia 

For some owners, maximising income from their asset is not a high priority. Equally, 

an owner may lack the necessary knowledge or skills to refurbish or manage a 

property, but still be unwilling to sell. There may also be disputes regarding 

inheritance which require the outcome of a legal remedy before rent or sale can be 

considered. Furthermore, a number of homes can remain empty due to personal or 

sentimental reasons. 

2.4 Poor condition of empty homes 

High quantities of homes are also empty due to their dilapidated condition. Research 

indicates that many owners are unable to carry out the necessary remedial works 

required to bring them up to an acceptable standard because of a lack of funds. 

These homes will remain empty until the essential works have been completed.    

3. Housing Need 

3.1  Local Housing Market Assessment 

The Welsh Government defines housing need as: 

“Households lacking their own housing or living in housing which is inadequate or 

unsuitable, who are unlikely to be able to meet their housing needs in the housing 

market without assistance”. 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC has identified an overall shortfall in affordable housing 

units, as well as a predicted future increase in housing need. The most recent Local 

Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) undertaken in 2017 has identified a need for 

738 new affordable homes each year between 2017-18 and 2022-23.  

Tudalen 80



 

9 
 

The LHMA also indicated that most people want to live in existing communities. In 

addition to this, it found that new build activity in many areas of the borough is not 

sufficient in itself in some areas to meet demand, which reinforces the need for 

investment in the existing housing stock. It is therefore evident that new build 

developments alone will not sufficiently meet demand. The LHMA also identified 

differences in average house prices and affordability in Rhondda Cynon Taf between 

the Northern and Southern parts of the County Borough, and as previously stated 

there is also an imbalance in supply and demand.  

3.2 Homelessness 

Homelessness prevention work has resulted in a significant decrease in homeless 

applications over the last decade. Prevention is where a local authority takes positive 

action to provide housing assistance to someone who the authority considers is 

threatened with homelessness within 56 days. However, despite the general 

decrease, a large number of people are still presenting themselves as homeless and 

in the current housing market and economic climate; this trend is set to continue.    

In 2016-17 in Rhondda Cynon Taf 567 homelessness presentations were made of 

which 78 were deemed to be priority cases which the council had a statutory duty to 

re-house. In addition, 357 households were successfully prevented from 

homelessness by the authority taking positive preventative action.7 

Bringing empty homes back into use could contribute to meeting the needs of 

homelessness households, by increasing the housing supply and also providing the 

local authority with nomination rights where incentives, such as grant assistance 

have been provided.  

 

4. The Financial Cost of Empty Homes 

4.1 Cost Implications for Owners of Empty Homes 

Not only are long term empty homes a drain on council resources and a wasted 

resource in a time of meeting housing need, they are a cost burden on the owner of 

                                                           
7
 Source: Welsh Government 

Tudalen 81



 

10 
 

the property. Fig 3 shows that owning an empty dwelling cost the owner an average 

of £7,100 per annum. The rental loss is based on the Local Housing Allowance of 

£91.81 for a 3 bed house and the council tax loss equates to the Council Tax rate for 

a band A property.  

 

 

 

5. Enforcement Solutions and Legislative Framework 

As already mentioned, invariably, empty homes can be neglected and can fall into 

disrepair. Where other informal approaches to owners have failed to bring about 

improvements, service of legal remedies are considered.  

The main options that are available to Councils include: 

 Building Act 1984, Sections 77-79 

This legislation allows the Council to require the owner of a building to carry out 

remedial works or demolish a building or structure if it is considered to be in a 

dangerous condition. If the owner fails to comply, the Council may carry out the 

works in default and recover the expenses reasonably incurred. This option is used 

in instances where the property is in a ruinous or dilapidated condition and  is 

seriously detrimental to the amenities of the neighbourhood. The provision only 

£4,774 
£1,120 

£300 

£300 

£1,200 

Rent 

Average Council Tax 

Security 

Insurance 

Dilapidation 

Figure 3: Average Annual Cost to Owners of Empty Homes in RCT 

Tudalen 82



 

11 
 

addresses the external appearance of the building and therefore can be of limited 

benefit to the overall regeneration and reuse of the property. 

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 215 

Requires owners and occupiers to remedy their properties if they fail to maintain 

them and they are considered seriously detrimental to the amenities of the 

neighbourhood.  The scope of this legislation is wide ranging and it is for the Council 

to interpret its use.  

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 Section 29 

Where a property is not effectively secured against unauthorised entry or is likely to 

become a danger to public health and is unoccupied or the occupier is absent from 

it, the Council can take action. It may secure the property or take steps to prevent it 

become a danger to public health.   

 Environmental Protection Act 1990, Sections 79-81. 

This act allows the Council to require the abatement of statutory nuisance. This may 

be applied to a range of issues that affect empty homes, including the accumulation 

of rubbish or ingress of water, affecting neighbouring homes. The Council can serve 

an abatement notice on the owners requiring works to abate the nuisance, and if 

necessary carry the work out in default. 

 Housing Act 2004 

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System is a risk based assessment of the 

potential risks to health and safety from any deficiencies identified in dwellings. 

Several enforcement options exist, including emergencies measures, dependant on 

the severity of the assessment outcome. 

Empty Dwelling Management Orders are also available and could be considered for 

long-term empty homes as a last resort against un-cooperative property owners. The 

rental income would repay the Council costs associated with enforcing the order and 

managing the property for a period of up to 7 years.  At the end of the lease the 

habitable property would be handed back to the owner. This procedure would only 

be practical in areas of housing need and would require a housing association 

Tudalen 83



 

12 
 

partner to provide the management as the Council does not have any of its own 

housing stock. 

Demolition orders can be made on houses that are not suitable for habitation. Where 

a number of poor houses are identified in one area and where it is considered that 

such action will assist in the wider regeneration of an area, the Council has powers 

to clear a number at once. These powers can be used for empty houses.   

 Housing Act 1985, Section 17 

If an owner refuses to bring a home back into use and the property is having a 

degenerative effect on the area, the Council has powers to compulsory purchase. 

This procedure could be considered where the Council identifies a future purposed 

use for the building. 

 Law of Property Act 1925, Section 103 

Exercising the power of sale of an empty property where money is owed to the 

Council: for example as a result of the Council having to step in to undertake 

remedial works in default of an owner. The Council has a Policy for the use of this 

power which highlights the need to ensure appropriate methods for disposal of 

homes so that local people are encouraged and able to buy them at market value, or 

otherwise that a housing association partner is able to purchase the homes for re-

use as affordable housing. 

 

6. Recent Activity 

6.1 Proactive Approaches 

6.1.1 Empty Homes Officers 

Over the last few years, the Council has increased its proactive approach to dealing 

with empty homes and now has two Empty Homes Officers working full time to tackle 

the issue. A comprehensive database of empty homes is kept, based on Council tax 

records and any property which has been empty for more than six months as at 1st 

April is captured on this database, in conjunction with other known long term empty 

Tudalen 84



 

13 
 

homes. Part of the remit of the Empty Homes Officer is to identify ownership and 

legal responsibility of problematic empty homes, and to work with the owners or their 

estates to bring these back into use. Any direct actions taken by the Council or its 

partners on its behalf, which can lead to individual dwellings, being returned to 

occupation is recorded and the database is used to provide yearly performance 

indicator statistics and to monitor performance.  

The types of interventions that these officers undertake are as follows: 

 proactively identifying and surveying empty homes 

 serving notices on owners of empty homes where they are having a 

detrimental impact. 

 undertaking works in default (including demolition) 

 securing empty homes 

 enforced sales where the Council has secured a debt against an empty home 

 providing advice and information 

 

6.1.2 Raising Awareness 

In order to raise awareness of the empty homes problem within RCT, a number of 

publicity and educational initiatives have also been employed. It is recognised that 

increased awareness of the issue can help identify properties of concern to residents 

and also encourage the owners to come forward and seek advice and guidance. To 

date, these initiatives have included the following: 

 Publicising activities through the use of social media and newspaper articles, 

local radio and Council and Local Health Authority newsletter articles. 

 Presentations and displays to strategic partnership groups, Councillors, 

Community First Clusters and the general public. 

 The development of promotional literature such as leaflets and a 

comprehensive empty home owner information pack. 

 The development of a dedicated empty homes web page. 

 The issue of questionnaires to owners of empty homes and residents affected 

by the issues. 

Tudalen 85



 

14 
 

 

6.2 Funding Options 

The Council has a number of funding options available to owners of empty homes to 

encourage them to be brought back into use. The options recognise that apart from 

encouraging home owners to utilise their asset, the commercial sector also 

represents a particular area where properties are underused along with the 

residential upper floors of retail premises.  

6.2.1 Homes above Retail Premises 

A recent survey by the Federation of Master Builders estimated that in the UK as a 

whole, as many as 300,000 to 400,000 new homes could be created by making use 

of empty spaces above shops. The Council has undertaken a number of approaches 

to bringing this empty space in town centres back into beneficial use. 

The HARPS scheme has been enabled through the Welsh Governments’ Vibrant 

and Viable Places programme. This initiative has focussed on the opportunities 

provided by the previously untapped housing market in Pontypridd Town Centre. 

Pontypridd has consistently been identified as one of the areas of high housing 

demand within the borough and there is a distinct shortage of one and two bedroom 

units; yet the town centre offers very little scope to develop affordable housing to 

meet this demand. To date, 24 units of accommodation have been provided through 

this approach. 

There is also provision in the Council’s Private Sector Renewal Policy (which 

identifies the Council’s priorities for housing capital investment), to provide Flats over 

Shops grants to provide residential accommodation in town centre locations. 

6.2.2 Empty Property Grant 

In 2016 the Council, using its own capital funding launched an Empty Property Grant 

scheme which provides a grant of up to £20,000 for residents who wish to renovate 

an empty property they have purchased. To date the Council has invested 

£4.1million in this scheme. It is estimated that this initiative and total investment will 

bring back into use in the region of 200 empty homes over the next two to three 

years. 

Tudalen 86



 

15 
 

6.2.3 Houses into Homes Loan 

The Houses into Homes Loan is a Welsh Government funded scheme which 

provides a loan to help return privately owned empty homes into use. The scheme is 

managed by the Council. These loans are not available for potential owner occupiers 

and are designed for applicants who want to rent or sell their property on completion 

of the refurbishment works. The loan must be repaid on sale or within 2 years from 

the date of loan approval, which ever is sooner, or within 3 years from the date of the 

loan approval if the property is for rent. 

The Houses into Homes Loan has proved to be very popular with landlords and 

investors with the Council processing over £1.8m of Houses into Homes loans since 

2012. This has provided 84 units of accommodation up to December 2017. 

 

6.2.4 Affordable Housing 

Affordable housing is classed as housing that is provided for sale or rent at below 

open market prices and where there are secure mechanisms in place to ensure that 

it is accessible to those who cannot afford market housing. Recent research has 

suggested that many people looking for affordable housing want to live in existing 

communities. This is evidenced by the council’s “Homestep” low cost home 

ownership register and historical demand for assistance to purchase existing 

properties and not just new build. Providing low cost homeownership in existing 

communities can also help to ‘re-balance’ housing markets in areas where this is a 

high level of rented accommodation. 

Initially, Rhondda Cynon Taf was successful in obtaining funding from the Heads of 

the Valleys initiative to implement an innovative and unique scheme called 

Homestep Plus. The scheme provided funding for a registered Social Landlord 

partner (in this instance Cynon Taf Community Housing Group) to purchase a 

number of empty homes, from owners of existing empty homes, for sale to first time 

buyers on a 30% shared equity basis. The properties were refurbished before being 

sold and the equity share in each property was recycled on future sales to facilitate 

further phases of the scheme. Between 2010 and 2016, 14 empty homes were 

brought back into use via this initiative. 

Tudalen 87



 

16 
 

Since 2015, Rhondda Cynon Taf Council and United Welsh Housing Association 

have worked together to deliver a new Homestep Plus scheme with funding from the 

Welsh Government’s Vibrant and Viable Places programme. The scheme enables 

United Welsh to identify and buy empty homes in the CF37 postcode area and to 

refurbish them before offering them for sale at 70% of the asking price. Alternatively, 

residents can identify their own property, which United Welsh will purchase on their 

behalf and sell on at the discounted price. Funding is available to purchase 24 

homes up until March 2019, and as with the previous scheme, monies accrued on 

future sales will be recycled to facilitate additional purchases.  

6.2.5 Targeted Community Approaches 

It is recognised that there are communities, particularity in the north of the borough, 

where there are persistently high levels of empty homes. These communities also 

experience high levels of social deprivation coupled with poor quality housing across 

all tenures. This situation can often deter people from moving into these areas and 

also discourages people from staying; thus leading to a high turn over of homes, 

especially in the private rented sector, and a subsequent increase in the numbers of 

empty homes. 

The implementation of a Housing and Health Action Area was successfully piloted in 

Tylorstown during February 2015. The over-arching aim was to improve housing, 

health and prosperity through specific housing interventions.   

Within this context, work began to categorise and take action with regards to empty 

homes in the Tylorstown area according to their condition and need for possible 

enforcement action. As a result of this 62 empty homes were brought back into use 

following council contact, intervention or enforcement action. This was despite the 

very challenging local housing market. However, whilst the initiative brought back 

into use 62 empty homes, during this time a different 73 became vacant. A targeted 

housing project has also been undertaken in Treforest over the last two years and 

has identified similar issues in that despite the project bringing 93 empty homes back 

into use, Council Tax records show that a further 92 different homes are now empty 

in the ward.  

Tudalen 88



 

17 
 

This reinforces the notion that measures focussed on selective communities, need to 

be delivered in the context of a wider strategic approach that will improve the overall 

“outlook” for the communities and tackle some of the more macro issues that these 

communities are affected by.  

  6.2.6 Advice, Education and Information  

It was acknowledged that there is scope for the Council to proactively assist the 

market by focussing on the most problematic empty homes as well as those that can 

be most effectively used for affordable housing in the higher demand areas of the 

borough. Equally, a number of less problematic empty homes may also be brought 

back into use through the provision of advice and “education”. This has lead to the 

production of a comprehensive information pack for owners of empty homes in RCT. 

The pack contains advice on a multitude of options what are available to owners to 

enable them to better utilise their asset. The pack covers issues such as selling the 

empty house, purchase advice, letting or renting the house, advice on how to 

become a landlord and how to advertise your property, advice on refurbishment, 

private finance, and tax relief/reductions and outlines the legal enforcement 

procedures applicable to empty homes.  

6.2.7 Dedicated Web Page 

In addition to the initiatives outlined above, Rhondda Cynon Taf has also developed 

a dedicated empty homes web page, which provides information on the Houses into 

Homes Grant and the Empty Property Grant, plus information on Homestep Plus and 

general help and guidance to landlords wishing to bring their house back into use. 

Below is the link to the “Making Homes in RCT” web-page.  

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Housing/Housing.aspx 

 

 

 

6.3 Performance 

Tudalen 89

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Housing/Housing.aspx


 

18 
 

Over the last four years the Council has brought back into use 651 homes through 

direct action, loan or grant aid. Just under 1500 interventions on empty homes have 

taken place over this period to provide advice, serve notices or secure empty homes. 

The latest analysis in 2017-18 identified that there are 3556 private sector empty 

homes in Rhondda Cynon Taf. As per Performance Indicator definition PAM13, this 

figure consists of the Council Tax exemption classes of, A, C F, G, L and Q but 

excludes homes under renovation and homes classed as second homes (furnished). 

It also does not include houses taken out of Council Tax banding because they are 

deemed to be uninhabitable, or commercial empty properties. 

 

There are two figures which are relevant to the Performance Indicator; the number of 

empty homes and the number or empty homes returned to use. The Council’s 

performance over the last four years is detailed in the table below. 

 

Figure 4: Council performance in relation to empty homes 

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total 

% of empty homes brought 

back into use 

3.37% 5.17% 4.9% 5.74% - 

Number of empty homes 

brought back into use  

114 144 138 204 600 

Total number of empty 

homes 

3381 2785 2818 3556 - 

Number of interventions 255 324 536 356 1471 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5: Comparison of Council Performance by year 

Tudalen 90



 

19 
 

 

It should be noted that Rhondda Cynon Taf only counts empty homes that have 

been brought back into use as a consequence of direct action by the Council e.g. 

enforcement or financial assistance in accordance with the national performance 

indicator definition. This definition was changed for 2017/18 both in terms of the type 

of empty homes that can be counted and the type of action. This has meant that the 

council’s total number of empty homes appears to have grown significantly between 

2016-17 and 2017-18. However, the two data sets are not strictly comparable 

because of the change in the types of empty home that can be counted. The graph 

does however demonstrate the gradual improvement each year in the total number 

of empty homes that have been brought back into use per year both in real terms 

and as a percentage. Notably, in 2017-18 less interventions resulted in more homes 

being brought back into use, perhaps evidence of the benefits of a more targeted 

approach. 

 

7. Strategic Aims 

Whilst it is acknowledged that good progress has been made in bringing empty 

homes back into use in RCT over the last few years, the scale of the problem still 

persists and continues to present problems in many communities. Despite lots of 

activity and empty homes being brought back into use, often the overall total number 

of empty homes in the borough at any one time remains relatively static i.e as one 

empty home is brought back into use, another falls empty. 

0 

500 

1000 

1500 

2000 

2500 

3000 

3500 

4000 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Number of empty properties 
brought back into use  

Total number of empty 
properties  

Number of interventions 

Tudalen 91



 

20 
 

As such, a strong strategic approach is required which has objectives that are clear, 

deliverable and will make a difference to both the scale of empty homes that are 

brought back into use as well as having a more fundamental impact on the total 

number in order to reverse the trend in a sustainable way. 

The strategic aims are: 

1. To develop partnerships and vehicles that will enable an increase in the 

scale of empty homes being brought back into use 

Drawing on best practice elsewhere, the Council will actively engage with housing 

associations, private sector partners, community groups and other stakeholders in 

the community, to identify new models and vehicles to increase the scale of empty 

homes that are brought back into use. 

Responsibilities for the various interventions and approaches for empty homes are 

shared across two departments in the Council. The ‘Housing Grants and Strategy 

Team’ located with the Regeneration and Planning department is responsible for 

overall delivery of the strategy, developing an action plan and monitoring outcomes. 

It is also responsible for developing and delivering funding models and any other 

vehicles designed to bring empty homes back into use. Meanwhile, the Council’s 

‘Housing Standards Team’ located with the Public Health and Protection department 

is responsible for the provision of advice, assistance and enforcement activity.  

Good communication and clarity of roles and responsibilities is vital to ensuring the 

successful delivery of the aims of this strategy. As such, an Empty Homes Steering 

Group will be established to co-ordinate delivery of the strategy and associated 

activity. The Steering Group will include representatives from Housing Grants, 

Housing Strategy, the Housing Standards Team, Regeneration and Planning and 

other partners as required 

 

 

2. To maximise the use of current funding and identify further funding models 

to increase the number of empty homes that are brought back into use 

Tudalen 92



 

21 
 

The Council will continue to make available and ensure effective management of 

grants and loans schemes to facilitate owners (subject to funding) to bring their 

empty homes back into beneficial use. The Council will also prioritise identifying 

further funding opportunities that can be levered into the borough for this purpose.  

 

3. To continue to use a range of interventions to ensure all types of empty 

home are targeted and enabled to be brought back into use and monitor the 

outcomes related to these closely. 

The Council will continue to encourage or enforce the improvement or conversion of 

empty homes to increase the supply and choice of housing across RCT. Priority will 

be given to those properties which have the greatest detriment to the surrounding 

community and/or those properties which can most effectively be returned to use in 

terms of contributing usefully to housing supply. 

The Council’s dedicated web page “Making Homes in RCT” is currently being 

updated to include all relevant options for owners of empty homes to consider. This 

will include an option for local residents to “report” an empty home which will allow 

the Empty Homes Officers to target individual properties and to offer advice and 

assistance to bring the property back into use as soon as possible.   

 

4. To undertake further research in communities and evaluation of existing 

schemes to understand why there are a high number of empty homes and 

identify possible solutions that could prevent homes from becoming empty. 

The Council, in its strategic housing role will undertake further research to 

understand why some areas are blighted by empty homes, taking into consideration 

both the ‘micro’ and ‘macro’ reasons. It is possible that empty homes in some 

communities are a symptom of other issues, rather than the problem in itself and 

undertaking in depth research into the housing market and other social economic 

factors might help to identify more innovative solutions and approaches to the 

problem. The trend based data will continue to be analysed to assist in the targeting 

of interventions. 

Tudalen 93



 

22 
 

 

5. To identify possible solutions that could prevent homes from becoming 

empty and also develop interventions for different market areas and types  

The Council will ensure that in its five identified Strategic Opportunity Areas the 

opportunities to bring private sector empty homes back into use is maximised. In 

addition, major infrastructure projects are an instrument for kick-starting regeneration 

with train stations, and their surrounding environments, increasingly seen as the 

steer for regeneration programmes. The development of the South East Wales 

Metro, as part of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, provides such an opportunity. 

The Metro will focus on modernising the core valley lines resulting in far more 

frequent and faster trains into and out of Cardiff from. This could therefore result in 

renewed and increased demand for housing in some areas where the housing 

market has been affected by depopulation in recent years which would have a 

positive impact on the number of empty homes. Increases in tourism could also 

present an opportunity to encourage the re-use of empty homes. 

This approach to prevention will also  include an evaluation of existing schemes to 

ensure the impact of those schemes is effective; development of new schemes and 

identification of approaches to both prevent homes from becoming empty and 

manage low demand effectively. 

 

8. Action Plan and Monitoring 

An annual action plan will be developed to deliver and drive forward the aims of this 

Strategy and ensure that the Council’s ambitions related to decreasing the number of 

empty homes in the borough are met. It will be monitored quarterly and performance 

will be measured against it, and relevant local and national indicators. 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 94



 

23 
 

Appendix 1: Case Studies 

 

Case Study 1: Houses into Homes Loan 

 

The Forest Hotel, Treforest, Pontypridd: 

Houses to Homes loan was awarded in June 2015 for £150,000 for the conversion of 

a former public house which closed and became empty in November 2010 to 5 self 

contained 2 bedroom flats and a 3 bedroom residential dwelling. This scheme also 

attracted additional private sector leverage of £191,250. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 95



 

24 
 

Case Study 2: Homestep Plus 

 

 

Property in CF37 area after refurbishment works. This property had previously 

remained empty for over 2 years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 96



 

25 
 

Case Study 3: Treforest Targeted Approach 

 

This property was the longest standing empty property in Treforest and had been 

empty since 2001. Advice was given to the owner regarding condition of property. 

The property is now refurbished ready for sale and on the market. The Council’s 

intervention helped by encouraging the owner to do something with the property 

rather than face legal action.  

 

 

     Before      After 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 97



 

26 
 

Appendix 2 – Location of 684 ‘Long Term’ Empty Homes  

 

Ward Number of empty homes 
appearing in 2014,2015, 2016 

and 2017 snapshot 

Percentage of Total 

Beddau 1 0.15 

Llanharan 1 0.15 

Pen-y-waun 1 0.15 

Rhydfelen Central/Ilan 1 0.15 

Tyn-y-nant 1 0.15 

Llanharry 2 0.29 

Llantrisant Town 2 0.29 

Talbot Green 2 0.29 

Llantwit Fardre 3 0.44 

Rhigos 3 0.44 

Church Village 4 0.58 

Cwmbach 4 0.58 

Glyncoch 4 0.58 

Llwyn-y-pia 4 0.58 

Gilfach Goch 5 0.73 

Pont-y-clun 5 0.73 

Rhondda 5 0.73 

Ton-teg 5 0.73 

Brynna 6 0.88 

Tonyrefail East 6 0.88 

Graig 7 1.02 

Hawthorn 7 1.02 

Mountain Ash East 8 1.17 

Pontypridd Town 9 1.32 

Cilfynydd 10 1.46 

Tonyrefail West 11 1.61 

Hirwaun 12 1.75 

Ynysybwl 12 1.75 

Trallwng 13 1.90 

Ynyshir 13 1.90 

Maerdy 15 2.19 

Porth 15 2.19 

Pen-y-graig 16 2.34 

Tonypandy 16 2.34 

Trealaw 16 2.34 

Treforest 16 2.34 

Ystrad 18 2.63 

Tudalen 98



 

27 
 

Aberaman North 19 2.78 

Aberdare 
West/Llwydcoed 

19 2.78 

Cymmer 20 2.92 

Mountain Ash West 21 3.07 

Abercynon 22 3.22 

Aberaman South 26 3.80 

Ferndale 27 3.95 

Cwm Clydach 29 4.24 

Aberdare East 30 4.39 

Pentre 33 4.82 

Penrhiwceiber 36 5.26 

Tylorstown 36 5.26 

Treorchy 43 6.29 

Treherbert 44 6.43 

Grand Total 684 100 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 99



Tudalen wag


	Agenda
	2 Adolygu'r Cynllun Trwyddedu Ychwanegol ar gyfer Tai Amlfeddiannaeth 2014 a'r cynnig i ddatgan cynllun newydd yn 2019.
	/
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	3. BACKGROUND

	Agenda Item No.  3
	Blank Page
	Appendix 1 HMO Licensing Conditions 2014 Scheme.pdf
	HMO Licensing Conditions
	(Housing Act 2004 Section 67)
	1. The condition of the property and associated facilities.
	2. Community and Environmental Matters.
	3. Provision of satisfactory management arrangements


	Blank Page

	3 Strategaeth Tai Gwag – Adroddiad Drafft
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	3.0  BACKGROUND

	Agenda Item No.  
	9th October 2018
	DRAFT EMPTY HOMES 
	STRATEGY



